**Unum Group** Form DEF 14A April 07, 2008 **Table of Contents** 

## **UNITED STATES**

## SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

## **SCHEDULE 14A**

Proxy Statement Pursuant to Section 14(a) of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934

(Amendment No. \_\_\_) Filed by the Registrant " Filed by a Party other than the Registrant " Check the appropriate box: Preliminary Proxy Statement Confidential, for Use of the Commission Only (as permitted by Rule 14a-6(e)(2)) **Definitive Proxy Statement Definitive Additional Materials** Soliciting Material Pursuant to §240.14a-12 **Unum Group** (Name of Registrant as Specified In Its Charter)

(Name of Person(s) Filing Proxy Statement, if other than the Registrant)

Payment of Filing Fee (Check the appropriate box):

## Edgar Filing: Unum Group - Form DEF 14A

No fee required.
Fee computed on table below per Exchange Act Rules 14a-6(i)(1) and 0-11.
(1) Title of each class of securities to which the transaction applies:
(2) Aggregate number of securities to which the transaction applies:
(3) Per unit price or other underlying value of the transaction computed pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 0-11 (set forth the amount on which the filing fee is calculated and state how it was determined):
(4) Proposed maximum aggregate value of the transaction:
(5) Total fee paid:
Fee paid previously with preliminary materials.
Check box if any part of the fee is offset as provided by Exchange Act Rule 0-11(a)(2) and identify the filing for which the offsetting fe was paid previously. Identify the previous filing by registration statement number, or the Form or Schedule and the date of its filing.
(1) Amount Previously Paid:

# Edgar Filing: Unum Group - Form DEF 14A

(2)	Form, Schedule or Registration Statement No.:
(3)	Filing Party:
(4)	Date Filed:

April 7, 2008

Unum Group Stockholders:

On behalf of the board of directors and all of the employees of Unum, I d like to invite you to our 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. This year s meeting will be held at 10:00 a.m. Eastern Daylight Time on Thursday, May 22, 2008, at our headquarters offices in Chattanooga.

The purpose of the meeting is to consider and vote upon the following matters:

- 1. The election of four directors for terms expiring in 2011;
- 2. The approval of the Management Incentive Compensation Plan of 2008;
- 3. The approval of the Unum Limited Savings-Related Share Option Scheme 2008;
- 4. The approval of the Unum Ireland Limited Savings-Related Share Option Scheme 2008;
- 5. The ratification of the selection of Ernst & Young LLP as the Company s independent registered public accounting firm; and
- 6. The transaction of any other business that may properly come before the meeting.

  Stockholders of record of the Company at the close of business on March 24, 2008, are entitled to notice of and to vote at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders and at any and all adjournments or postponements of the meeting. Please note our procedures for admission to the meeting described on page 4 of the Proxy Statement.

The Board of Directors recommends that you vote in favor of Items 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5, which are described in the attached Proxy Statement.

You can vote by proxy any one of three ways: Internet, mail or telephone. You can also vote in person at the meeting. Detailed proxy voting instructions are provided both in the Proxy Statement and in the proxy card. Even if you plan to attend the meeting, we encourage you to vote promptly by proxy using one of the three ways provided.

In accordance with new rules approved by the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), we sent a Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials on or about April 7, 2008. This notice alerted you that access to our proxy materials was provided over the Internet, beginning on that date.

Thank you for your support of Unum Group.

Sincerely,

Thomas R. Watjen

President and Chief Executive Officer

April 7, 2008

#### NOTICE OF 2008 ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

**Time and Date** 

Place

 $10{:}00\ a.m.$  Eastern Daylight Time on Thursday, May  $22,\,2008$ 

Unum Group

1 Fountain Square

Chattanooga, Tennessee 37402

An audio webcast of the Annual Meeting will be available on Unum s website at <a href="https://www.unum.com">www.unum.com</a>, under the Investor Information tab, starting at 10:00 a.m. Eastern Daylight Time on May 22, 2008. An archived copy of the webcast will be available through June 5, 2008. Information on the website, other than the Proxy Statement and form of proxy, is not a part of Unum s proxy soliciting material.

To elect four members of the Board of Directors, each for a term of three years

To approve the Management Incentive Compensation Plan of 2008

To approve the Unum Limited Savings-Related Share Option Scheme 2008

To approve the Unum Ireland Limited Savings-Related Share Option Scheme  $2008\,$ 

To ratify the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for the 2008 fiscal year

To transact such other business as may properly come before the meeting You can vote if you are a stockholder of record on March 24, 2008. Every stockholder s vote is important. Please complete, sign, date and return your proxy form, or submit your vote and proxy by Internet or telephone. The Annual Report to Stockholders, including Unum s audited financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007, and the proxy card enclosed with this Proxy Statement are being mailed or provided electronically to stockholders of record on or about April 7, 2008.

Webcast

**Items of Business** 

**Record Date Proxy Voting** 

**Annual Report to Stockholders** 

Susan N. Roth

Vice President, Transactions, SEC and Corporate Secretary

1

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

GENERAL QUESTIONS	Page 4
BOARD AND COMMITTEE INFORMATION AND MEMBERSHIP	10
Board meetings and standing Committees	10
Audit Committee	11
Human Capital Committee	11
<u>Finance Committee</u>	12
Governance Committee	13
Regulatory Compliance Committee	13
AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT	15
REPORT OF THE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE	16
Selection of Nominees for the Board	16
<u>Determination of Independence of Directors</u>	17
Stockholder Communications with the Board	17
Code of Business Practices and Ethics	18
GOVERNANCE-RELATED ITEMS	19
<u>Independence of Directors</u>	19
Our Related Party Transaction Policy	20
<u>Transactions With Related Persons</u>	21
ELECTION OF DIRECTORS (Item 1 on the Proxy Card)	23
Nominees for Election for Term Expiring in 2011	24
Continuing Directors	25
How nominations for election to the Board are made	27
SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS	29
SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE	30
REPORT OF THE HUMAN CAPITAL COMMITTEE	31
COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS	31
Summary	31
Compensation Philosophy and Administration	31
Benchmarking and Peer Group Design	32
Elements of Pay (2007 Performance)	35
Elements of Pay (2008 Performance)	46
Policies and Practices	47
Summary Compensation Table	50
2007 All Other Compensation	52
Grants of Plan-Based Awards	53
Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End	55
Vesting Schedule for Unvested Restricted Shares	56
Option Exercises and Stock Vested	56
POST-EMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION	57
2007 Pension Benefits	57
Non-Oualified Deferred Compensation	59

## Edgar Filing: Unum Group - Form DEF 14A

## Table of Contents

	Page
OTHER POTENTIAL POST-EMPLOYMENT PAYMENTS	60
Termination as a result of Death	60
Termination as a result of Disability	61
Termination for Cause or Resignation without Good Reason	61
Termination without Cause or Resignation with Good Reason (absent a CIC)	62
Termination related to a Change-in-Control	63
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENTS	66
COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS	68
<u>Director Compensation Table</u>	69
BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP OF COMPANY COMMON STOCK	72
Beneficial Ownership Based on Voting Power	72
Beneficial Ownership Based on Investment Power	73
APPROVAL OF THE MANAGEMENT INCENTIVE COMPENSATION PLAN OF 2008 (Item 2 on the Proxy Card)	74
APPROVAL OF THE UNUM LIMITED SAVINGS-RELATED SHARE OPTION SCHEME 2008 (Item 3 on the Proxy Card)	77
APPROVAL OF THE UNUM LIMITED IRELAND SAVINGS-RELATED SHARE OPTION SCHEME 2008 (Item 4 on the Proxy Card)	80
RATIFICATION OF SELECTION OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM (Item 5 on the Proxy Card)	86
EXHIBIT A MANAGEMENT INCENTIVE COMPENSATION PLAN OF 2008	A-1
EXHIBIT B UNUM LIMITED SAVINGS-RELATED SHARE OPTION SCHEME 2008	B-1
EXHIBIT C LINUM IRELAND LIMITED SAVINGS-RELATED SHARE OPTION SCHEME 2008	C-1

3

## **GENERAL QUESTIONS**

#### Why did I receive these proxy materials?

You are receiving these materials in connection with the solicitation of proxies on behalf of the Board of Directors of Unum Group to be voted at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the Meeting ) on Thursday, May 22, 2008, or any adjournment or postponement of the Meeting. The materials are being provided by Internet, email, or by delivery of printed versions by mail if you have requested this method. This proxy statement and form of proxy are first being made available to stockholders on or about April 7, 2008.

#### What is included in these materials?

These materials include Unum s proxy statement for the Meeting and 2007 Annual Report to Stockholders, which includes the Company s audited consolidated financial statements. Those who requested printed versions of these materials by mail will, in addition to the above, also receive a proxy card for the Meeting.

#### Why did I receive a one-page notice in the mail regarding the Internet availability of proxy materials this year instead of a full printed set?

As outlined in the new rules adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission, Unum has elected to provide access to its proxy materials over the Internet. Accordingly, we are sending a Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials ( Notice ) to stockholders of record and beneficial owners. All stockholders will have the ability to access the proxy materials on a website referred to in the Notice or request to receive a printed set of the proxy materials. Instructions on how to access the proxy materials over the Internet or to request a printed copy may be found on the Notice. In addition, stockholders may request to receive proxy materials in printed form by mail or electronically by email on an ongoing basis.

#### How can I get electronic access to the proxy materials?

The Notice you received provides you with instructions on how to:

View proxy materials for the Meeting on the Internet; and Instruct Unum to send future proxy materials to you by email.

If you choose to receive future proxy materials by email, you will receive an email next year with instructions containing a link to those materials and a link to the proxy voting site. Your election to receive proxy materials by email will remain in effect until you terminate it.

#### Where are Unum s principal executive offices located, and what is the Company s main telephone number?

Unum s principal executive offices are located at 1 Fountain Square, Chattanooga, Tennessee 37402. The Company s main telephone number is 423-294-1011.

#### When and where is the Meeting?

The Meeting will be held on Thursday, May 22, 2008 at 10:00 a.m. Eastern Daylight Time, at Unum s headquarters offices at 1 Fountain Square, Chattanooga, Tennessee, 37402. There will be signs on the campus directing you to parking and the meeting site. Directions to our headquarters offices are available on our website at <a href="https://www.unum.com/directions">www.unum.com/directions</a>, or by calling the Office of the Corporate Secretary at 800-718-8824.

#### Will I need a ticket to attend the Meeting?

You will need an admission ticket or proof of ownership of the Company's common stock as of March 24, 2008, and valid picture identification (such as a driver's license or passport) to enter the Meeting. An admission ticket is attached to your proxy card. In addition, the Notice can also substitute for an admission ticket. Please bring the ticket or the Notice with you to the Meeting.

4

If your shares are held beneficially in the name of a bank, broker or other holder of record and you plan to attend the Meeting, a recent brokerage statement or letter from a bank or broker is an example of proof of ownership. If you arrive at the Meeting without an admission ticket, you will be admitted only after the Company can verify that you are a stockholder.

No cameras, recording equipment, electronic devices, large bags, briefcases, or packages will be permitted in the Meeting. For your safety and that of other stockholders, Unum reserves the right to inspect all personal items prior to admission to the Meeting.

#### Will the Meeting be webcast?

The Meeting will be audio webcast on May 22, 2008. You are invited to access the webcast on the Company s website at www.unum.com, under the Investor Information tab, at 10:00 a.m. Eastern Daylight Time. Registration for the webcast is required. The webcast will be archived on this website through June 5, 2008.

#### Who can vote at the Meeting?

Holders of Unum common stock at the close of business on March 24, 2008, are entitled to receive this notice and vote their shares. On that date there were approximately 346,796,025 shares of Unum common stock outstanding. The common stock is the only class of equity securities entitled to be voted at the Meeting. Each share of common stock is entitled to one vote on each matter properly brought before the Meeting.

#### Who is the Holder of Record?

You may own stock either (1) directly in your name as the stockholder of record, in which case you are the Holder of Record, or (2) indirectly through a bank, broker or other nominee. If your shares are registered directly in your name, you are the Holder of Record and these proxy materials are being sent directly to you by the Company.

If you own your shares in a stock brokerage account or through a bank or other Holder of Record, you are the beneficial owner of shares held in street name. As a result, these proxy materials have been forwarded to you by your broker, bank or other holder of record, who is considered to be the Holder of Record with respect to those shares. As the beneficial owner, you have the right to direct the Holder of Record how to vote your shares. You must follow the instructions provided to you by the Holder of Record in order to have your vote counted.

#### How do I vote?

You may vote by using any of the following methods:

#### By Internet

The website for Holders of Record to vote by Internet is <a href="www.envisionreports.com/unm">www.envisionreports.com/unm</a>. Internet voting is available 24 hours a day. You will need your control numbers from the enclosed proxy card. Your vote by Internet must be received by 1:00 a.m. Eastern Daylight Time, May 22, 2008. If you vote by Internet, you do not have to return your proxy card or voting instruction card. If you hold your shares in street name, please refer to the ballot provided to you by your broker, bank or other holder of record for Internet voting instructions.

The Internet and telephone voting procedures are designed to authenticate stockholders—identities, allow stockholders to give their voting instructions and confirm that stockholders—instructions have been recorded properly. Unum has been advised that the Internet and telephone voting procedures that have been made available to you are consistent with the requirements of applicable law. Stockholders voting via the Internet and

by telephone should understand that there may be costs associated with voting in these manners. Examples of such costs include usage charges from Internet access providers and telephone companies. These charges must be borne by the stockholder.

#### By Telephone

If you are the Holder of Record, you can vote by calling 800-652-VOTE (8683). This toll free number is also on the proxy card. Telephone voting is available 24 hours a day. Your vote by phone must be received by 1:00 a.m. Eastern Daylight Time, May 22, 2008. If you vote by telephone, you do not have to return your proxy card or voting instruction card. If you hold your shares in street name, please refer to the ballot provided to you by your broker, bank or other holder of record for telephone voting instructions.

#### By Mail

If you requested that a printed copy of the proxy materials be mailed to you, you should complete, sign, and date the proxy card or voting instruction card and return it in the enclosed self-addressed, stamped envelope. Your vote by mail must be received by our tabulator, Computershare Investor Services, at the below address by the close of business on May 21, 2008.

**Proxy Services** 

c/o Computershare Investor Services

P.O. Box 43126

Providence, RI 02940-5138

#### In Person at the Meeting

You may also vote in person at the Meeting. If you are a beneficial owner of shares, you must obtain a legal proxy from your broker, bank or other holder of record and present it to the inspectors of election with your ballot to be able to vote at the meeting. If you intend to vote in person at the Meeting, please notify the tellers prior to the beginning of the Meeting.

#### How are votes counted?

All shares that have been properly voted, and not revoked, will be voted at the Meeting in accordance with your instructions. If you sign and return your proxy card, but do not indicate how you want your shares to be voted, the shares represented by that proxy will be voted as follows based on the recommendation of the Board of Directors:

FOR all the nominees for Director:

FOR approval of the Management Incentive Compensation Plan of 2008;

FOR approval of the Unum Limited Savings-Related Share Option Scheme 2008;

FOR approval of the Unum Ireland Limited Savings-Related Share Option Scheme 2008; and

FOR ratification of the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for 2008.

Proxies that are not signed or returned, including those not returned by banks, brokers, or other holders of record, will <u>not</u> be counted for quorum or voting purposes.

Directors are elected by a majority of the votes cast at the Meeting. For this purpose, our Bylaws provide that a majority of the votes cast means the number of votes for a director must exceed 50 percent of the votes cast with respect to that director. Each vote against will count as a vote cast with respect to that director, but an abstention will not count as a vote cast with respect to that director is not elected, our Bylaws provide that the director shall offer to tender his or her resignation to the Board. The Governance Committee will

Table of Contents 11

6

make a recommendation to the Board whether to accept or reject the resignation, or whether other action should be taken. If the director who tenders his or her resignation is a member of the Governance Committee, that director will not participate in the Governance Committee s recommendation to the Board. The Board will act on the Governance Committee s recommendation and publicly disclose its decisions and the rationale behind it within 90 days from the date of the certification of the election results.

A New York Stock Exchange ( NYSE ) member broker who holds shares in street name for a customer has the authority to vote on certain items if the broker does not receive instructions from the customer. The NYSE rules permit member brokers who do not receive instructions to vote on the election of directors and the proposal to ratify the appointment of our independent registered public accounting firm. The NYSE rules do not permit member brokers who do not receive instructions to vote on the Management Incentive Compensation Plan of 2008, the Unum Limited Savings-Related Share Option Scheme 2008 or the Unum Ireland Limited Savings-Related Share Option Scheme 2008, because these are non-discretionary items. In tabulating the voting results for these plans, shares that constitute broker non-votes (1) are not considered entitled to vote on that proposal; (2) are counted for quorum purposes; and (3) are considered entitled to vote at the Meeting. Since approval of these plans will require the affirmative vote of at least a majority of the votes of the stockholders represented and entitled to vote at the Meeting, broker non-votes will have the same effect as votes. Against the matter.

#### How can I revoke my proxy or change my vote?

If you are a Holder of Record, you can revoke your proxy before it is exercised by giving written notice to our Corporate Secretary; timely delivering a valid later-dated proxy or a later-dated vote by telephone or on the Internet; or voting by ballot at the Meeting.

If you are a beneficial owner of shares, you may submit new voting instructions by contacting your broker, bank or other Holder of Record. You may also vote in person at the Meeting if you obtain a legal proxy from your broker, bank or other Holder of Record and present it to the inspectors of election with your ballot at the Meeting.

#### What vote is required?

A quorum is required to transact business at the Meeting. A quorum is reached if the holders of at least a majority of the shares entitled to vote are present at the Meeting, either in person or by proxy.

If a quorum is present, the affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast at the Meeting is required to elect each of the directors. Ratification of the following items requires the affirmative vote of at least a majority of the votes entitled to be cast by the stockholders represented and entitled to vote at the Meeting:

Approval of the Management Incentive Compensation Plan of 2008;

Approval of the Unum Limited Savings-Related Share Option Scheme 2008;

Approval of the Unum Ireland Limited Savings-Related Share Option Scheme 2008; and

Appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as the Company s independent registered public accounting firm for 2008. Who will count the votes?

Representatives of the Company s transfer agent, Computershare Investor Services, tabulate the votes and act as inspectors of the election.

#### How can I find the voting results of the Annual Meeting?

We will include the voting results in Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ending June 30, 2008 which we expect to file with the SEC in August 2008.

How can I access the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K on the Internet or obtain a written copy?

You can access Unum s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007 (the 2007 Annual Report on Form 10-K) via the Internet by going to the investor relations section of the Company s website at <a href="https://www.unum.com">www.unum.com</a>, under the Investor Information tab. The 2007 Annual Report on Form 10-K is not incorporated into this proxy statement and is not considered proxy soliciting material.

Upon written request to the following address, or by calling toll-free 800-718-8824, we will provide without charge to each person solicited a copy of the 2007 Annual Report on Form 10-K, including the financial statements and financial statement schedules filed therewith.

Susan N. Roth

Office of the Corporate Secretary

**Unum Group** 

1 Fountain Square

Chattanooga, Tennessee, 37402

Who pays for the cost of this proxy solicitation?

Unum pays the cost of soliciting proxies from its stockholders. Proxies are solicited by mail, e-mail, and may also be solicited personally or by telephone by our directors, officers and employees. We have also retained the services of Innisfree M&A Incorporated, a proxy soliciting firm, to assist in distributing and soliciting the proxies for the Meeting, and Computershare Investor Services, to provide certain administrative services in connection with distributing the proxies for the Meeting. Unum pays Innisfree a fee of \$20,000 and reasonable out-of-pocket expenses. Unum also makes appropriate arrangements with brokerage houses, banks and other custodians, nominees and fiduciaries, to help solicit proxies from the beneficial owners of shares held of record by such persons.

#### Will other business be conducted at the Meeting?

At the time this proxy was printed, there are no other matters that the Board intends to present, or has reason to believe others will present, at the Meeting. If other matters come before the Meeting, the persons named in the accompanying form of proxy will vote in accordance with their best judgment with respect to such matters.

#### How can stockholders include proposals for presentation at Unum s Annual Meeting?

SEC rules and the Company s Bylaws allow for the submission of proposals by stockholders for presentation at the Annual Meeting, although they also make clear that simply submitting a proposal does not guarantee its inclusion. While it is too late for proposals to be submitted for presentation at this year s Annual Meeting, if a stockholder wants to include a proposal in the Proxy Statement and form of proxy for presentation at the Company s 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, the proposal must be received at the below address by December 8, 2008.

Office of the Corporate Secretary

Unum Group

1 Fountain Square

Chattanooga, Tennessee, 37402

#### Are you householding for stockholders sharing the same address?

The SEC s rules for delivery of proxy materials to stockholders permit Unum to deliver a single copy of these documents to an address shared by two or more of our stockholders. This method of delivery is called *householding*, and its use can significantly reduce the volume of mail you

## Edgar Filing: Unum Group - Form DEF 14A

receive. This year, we are delivering

8

only one set of proxy materials to multiple stockholders sharing a single address unless we receive instructions to the contrary from one or more of those stockholders. We will still be required, however, to send you and each other Unum stockholder at your address an individual proxy voting card. If you would like to receive more than one set of proxy materials, copies are available by writing the address below or calling toll-free 800-446-2617:

Computershare Investor Services

P.O. Box 43069

Providence, RI 02940-3069

The same phone number and address may be used to notify us that you wish to receive a separate set of proxy materials in the future, or to request delivery of a single copy our proxy materials if you are receiving multiple copies.

9

### BOARD AND COMMITTEE INFORMATION AND MEMBERSHIP

#### How often does the Board meet?

During 2007, Unum s Board of Directors met 10 times. Each incumbent director attended at least 75 percent of the total of full Board and Committee meetings (held during the period for which each was a director and/or served on a Committee). In addition to executive sessions of the standing Committees, the independent directors met four times in executive session during 2007. The Chairman of the Board and lead independent director, Jon S. Fossel, presides over the executive sessions of the non-management and independent directors.

As stated in the Company s *Corporate Governance Guidelines*, all directors are expected to make every effort to attend the Annual Meeting of Stockholders and meetings of the Board and Committees of which they are members. All members of our Board attended the Annual Meeting of Stockholders in 2007.

#### What are the standing Committees of the Board?

The Board of Directors has five standing Committees: Audit, Human Capital, Finance, Governance and Regulatory Compliance. In addition to the duties contained in their respective charters, each Committee may be assigned additional duties by the Board from time to time, and each is charged with reporting its activities to the Board. Each standing Committee has a charter, and each charter is available free of charge on the Company s website at <a href="https://www.unum.com">www.unum.com</a>, under the Investor Information and Corporate Governance tabs. Copies also are available from the below address or by calling toll-free 800-718-8824.

Office of the Corporate Secretary

Unum Group

1 Fountain Square

Chattanooga, Tennessee, 37402

#### Which Board members serve on what Committees?

Below is a list of current Board members and the respective Committee(s) each serves on. A C means the director is a Committee chairperson.

	Term			Human		Regulatory
	Expires	Audit	Governance	Capital	Finance	Compliance
E. Michael Caulfield	2010	X			C	
Jon S. Fossel	2008	X				
Pamela H. Godwin	2009		X	X		
Ronald E. Goldsberry	2010	X				C
Thomas Kinser	2009			X		X
Gloria C. Larson	2008		X			X
A.S. (Pat) MacMillan, Jr.	2009		C	X		
Edward J. Muhl	2009				X	X
Michael J. Passarella	2010	C			X	
William J. Ryan	2008		X	C		
Thomas R. Watjen	2008					

#### Audit Committee

The primary purpose of the Audit Committee is to oversee Unum s financial reporting process on behalf of the Board of Directors. Under the charter, the Audit Committee s overall responsibilities include the selection and engagement of the independent auditors and monitoring and oversight of:

integrity of the financial statements of the Company;

effectiveness of the Company s internal control over financial reporting;

compliance by the Company with legal and regulatory requirements;

performance of the Company s internal audit function and independent auditors, as well as engagement of internal auditors; policies and procedures regarding the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics; and

financial risks, operational risks and any other risks the oversight of which is not allocated to another Committee of the Board. Members as of December 31, 2007, were:

Michael J. Passarella (Chairman), E. Michael Caulfield, Jon S. Fossel, and Ronald E. Goldsberry.

The Audit Committee met 10 times during 2007. All members of the Audit Committee are independent as required by SEC rules and regulations and the listing standards of the NYSE, and otherwise satisfy the requirements of our *Corporate Governance Guidelines*. The Board has determined that two members of the Audit Committee, Michael J. Passarella and E. Michael Caulfield, are audit committee financial experts as defined by SEC regulations. Both Mr. Passarella and Mr. Caulfield also have accounting or related financial management expertise within the meaning of the listing standards of the NYSE. All members of the Audit Committee have been determined by the Board to be financially literate as required by the NYSE.

#### **Human Capital Committee**

The Human Capital Committee oversees the compensation and benefit strategies of the Company. Under the charter, the Human Capital Committee s overall responsibilities include to review and:

approve the CEO s compensation and compensation for the other senior executives;

evaluate compensation programs for employees;

oversee regulatory compliance with respect to compensation matters;

recommend to the Board the compensation of directors;

recommend to the Board any equity-based compensation plan;

advise the Board with respect to the Compensation Discussion and Analysis to be included in the proxy statement;

advise the Board with respect to the charter;

oversee compliance with the NYSE requirement that stockholders approve equity compensation plans; and

prepare an annual report of the Committee for inclusion in the Company s proxy statement as required by regulations of the SEC.

Members as of December 31, 2007, were:

William J. Ryan (Chairman), Pamela H. Godwin, Thomas Kinser, and A.S. (Pat) MacMillan, Jr.

11

The Human Capital Committee met eight times during 2007. All members of the Human Capital Committee are independent as required by the listing standards of the NYSE and otherwise satisfy the requirements of our *Corporate Governance Guidelines* to serve as members of the Human Capital Committee and are Non-Employee Directors for purposes of Rule 16b-3 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and outside directors for purposes of Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code.

#### Committee Support

The Executive Compensation group in Unum s Human Resources Department supports the Human Capital Committee in its work. The Human Capital Committee has used Towers, Perrin, Forster & Crosby, Inc. (Towers Perrin) as its independent compensation consultant since 2003 for advice on the principal aspects of executive compensation, including the competitiveness of program design and award values. Human Capital Committee meetings are generally attended by Towers Perrin, which also participates in executive sessions without members of management in attendance, and communicates with members of the Human Capital Committee outside of meetings. Towers Perrin reports directly to the Committee, although the consultants may meet with management of the Company from time to time to gather information on proposals management may make to the Human Capital Committee. In addition to the services for which the Human Capital Committee uses Towers Perrin, management has also used the firm for compensation survey administration; employee engagement surveys; sourcing of market data for job evaluations and competitive market assessments of salary ranges.

#### Human Capital Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

None of the members of the Human Capital Committee were officers or employees of the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the last fiscal year, or at any other time. During the last fiscal year, none of the members of the Human Capital Committee had any relationship with the Company requiring disclosure under Item 404 of Regulation S-K and none of our executive officers served on the compensation committee (or equivalent) or the board of directors of another entity whose executive officer(s) served on our Board of Directors.

#### Finance Committee

The Finance Committee assists the Board in oversight of the risk associated with the Company s investments and related financial matters. Oversight of financial risk, however, is primarily the responsibility of the Audit Committee. Under the charter, the Finance Committee has overall responsibilities including to:

monitor, evaluate and recommend to the Board present and future capital and financing plans and the capital requirements and opportunities relative to the Company s business;

develop, adopt, revise, and oversee implementation of and compliance with investment strategies, guidelines and policies; authorize loans and investments, either directly or, in accordance with applicable laws, rules or regulations, for its subsidiaries through a sub-committee (the Investment Sub-Committee ) appointed by the Committee to supervise such loan and investment activity:

establish, charge and monitor the activities of the Investment Sub-Committee to the extent required or permitted by applicable laws, rules or regulations;

review, advise and report to the Board of Directors as to the financial resources and investments of the Company; authorize borrowing by the Company;

review material proposed mergers, acquisitions, divestitures, restructurings, and joint ventures and report to the Board on implications to the financial and capital plans of the Company; and

review, assess and report on the impact of various finance activities on debt ratings of the Company.

12

Members as of December 31, 2007, were:

E. Michael Caulfield (Chairman), Edward J. Muhl, and Michael J. Passarella.

The Finance Committee met six times during 2007. All members of the Finance Committee are independent and otherwise satisfy the requirements of our *Corporate Governance Guidelines*.

#### Governance Committee

The Governance Committee has primary responsibility for developing, implementing and oversight of the Company s corporate governance policies. Under the charter, the Governance Committee s overall responsibilities include:

oversight of compliance with our corporate governance guidelines;

reviewing the criteria for selecting new directors;

identifying qualified candidates for the Board;

developing and implementing a process for evaluating the Board as a whole and its members;

developing standards for determining independence of directors; and

periodically reviewing and making recommendations to the Board regarding membership on the Board s standing Committees.

Members as of December 31, 2007, were:

A.S. (Pat) MacMillan, Jr. (Chairman), Pamela H. Godwin, Gloria C. Larson, and William J. Ryan.

The Governance Committee met four times during 2007. All members of the Governance Committee are independent as required by the listing standards of the NYSE and otherwise satisfy the requirements of our *Corporate Governance Guidelines*.

#### Regulatory Compliance Committee

The Regulatory Compliance Committee sprimary responsibility is oversight of state and federal insurance regulatory matters that arise in connection with our business that are not presently covered as part of the specifically delegated responsibility of one of the other standing Committees of the Board. Under the charter, the Regulatory Compliance Committee so verall responsibilities include monitoring and oversight of:

compliance by the Company and its insurance subsidiaries with applicable laws and regulations concerning market conduct and Title I of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended;

surveys, complaints and other sources of information relating to customer satisfaction with the products and services of the Company and its insurance subsidiaries, particularly in claims handling services; and

compliance with the Plan of Corrective Action entered into by our insurance subsidiaries as part of the Regulatory Settlement Agreements under the Multistate Market Conduct Examination (RSA) and the California Settlement Agreement (CSA) (Information with respect to the RSA and CSA is posted on our website at <a href="https://www.unum.com/settlementagreement/">www.unum.com/settlementagreement/</a>).

Table of Contents 21

13

Members as of December 31, 2007, were:

Ronald E. Goldsberry (Chairman), Thomas Kinser, Gloria C. Larson, and Edward J. Muhl.

The Regulatory Compliance Committee met nine times during 2007. All members of the Regulatory Compliance Committee are independent and satisfy the requirements of our *Corporate Governance Guidelines*.

14

## AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

The primary purpose of the Audit Committee is to oversee our financial reporting process on behalf of the Board of Directors and is more fully described in its charter, which is available on the Company s website <a href="https://www.unum.com">www.unum.com</a> under the Investors Information and Corporate Governance tabs. The charter is also available by writing to the below address or by calling toll-free 800-718-8824.

Office of the Corporate Secretary

Unum Group

1 Fountain Square

Chattanooga, Tennessee, 37402

Management has the primary responsibility for our financial statements and the reporting process, including the establishment and effectiveness of our systems of internal controls over financial reporting. In fulfilling its oversight responsibilities, the Audit Committee reviewed the audited financial statements with management, including a discussion of the quality, not just the acceptability, of the accounting principles, the reasonableness of significant judgments, and the clarity of disclosures in the financial statements. Our independent registered public accounting firm ( independent auditor ) is responsible for performing an independent audit of the financial statements and expressing an opinion on whether they conform to generally accepted accounting principles. The firm also is responsible for auditing management s assessment of the effectiveness of financial reporting s internal controls. The auditors report directly to the Audit Committee and the Audit Committee is responsible for the appointment, compensation and oversight of the work performed by the auditors.

The Audit Committee reviewed with the independent auditors their judgments of the quality and acceptability of our accounting principles and other matters required to be discussed with the Audit Committee under generally accepted auditing standards, including Statement on Auditing Standards No. 61 (as amended). The Audit Committee also has discussed the auditor s independence from management and the Company, including the matters in the written disclosures required by the Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1, and considered the compatibility of non-audit services with the auditors independence.

The Audit Committee and the Company s internal and independent auditors discussed the overall scope and plans for their respective audits. The Audit Committee meets with the internal and independent auditors, with and without management present, to discuss the results of their examinations, their evaluations of the Company s internal controls, and the overall quality of the Company s financial reporting. The Audit Committee held 10 meetings during 2007.

In reliance on the reviews and discussions referred to above, the Audit Committee recommended to the Board of Directors (and the Board approved) that our audited financial statements for 2007 be included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Michael J. Passarella, Chairman

E. Michael Caulfield

Jon S. Fossel

Ronald E. Goldsberry

15

### REPORT OF THE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

#### Selection of Nominees for the Board

The Governance Committee considers candidates for Board membership suggested by Board members, management and stockholders. The Committee retains a national executive search firm to help it identify candidates for the Board, obtain information about prospective candidates backgrounds and experience, determine the candidates levels of interest in becoming a director of our Company, and make arrangements for meetings with prospective candidates. A stockholder who wishes to recommend a prospective nominee for the Board should notify the Company s Corporate Secretary in writing at:

Office of the Corporate Secretary

Unum Group

1 Fountain Square

Chattanooga, Tennessee, 37402

The nominee recommendation should include information required by the Company s bylaws regarding stockholder nominations. Those requirements can be found in this document under Governance-Related Items How are nominations for election to the Board made?, or on our website at <a href="https://www.unum.com">www.unum.com</a> under the Investor Information and Corporate Governance tabs.

Once the Governance Committee has identified a prospective nominee, a decision is made on whether to conduct a full evaluation of the candidate. This decision is based on information provided to the Committee as well as its own knowledge of the prospective candidate. This may be supplemented by information from the search firm assisting the Committee, or by inquiries to the person making the recommendation, or others. The preliminary determination to proceed further is based primarily on the need for additional Board members and the likelihood that the prospective nominee fulfills the Board's requirements. The Committee evaluates the prospective nominee against criteria in the Company's *Corporate Governance Guidelines*, which include:

Evidence of high ethical conduct, integrity, sound judgment and accountability for one s decisions and actions;

Current knowledge and experience that fulfill skills needed on the Board;

A willingness to commit time to the Board in order to fulfill its responsibilities;

A fit with other directors to build a Board that is effective and responsive to the needs of the Company;

Embracing a diversity of viewpoints, gender, ethnic background, age, professional experience and other demographics; and Fulfillment of the requirements of independence (if the person is being considered for a position as an independent director).

The Governance Committee also considers the number of other public company boards and audit committees on which a prospective nominee serves. The *Corporate Governance Guidelines* limit the number of public company boards on which a director of the Company serves to no more than three in addition to Unum s Board. The *Corporate Governance Guidelines* further limit members of the Audit Committee of the Board to serving on no more than two other audit committees of public companies.

The Governance Committee also considers other experience or qualifications from time to time, including:

The current composition of the Board;

Any needs of the Board; and

The need for additional members to satisfy Audit Committee requirements.

The Governance Committee then compares prospective nominees and determines whether to interview a nominee, either in person or by telephone. After completing the evaluation and interview, the Committee makes a recommendation to the full Board as to whom, if anyone should be nominated. The Board determines whether

16

to accept the nominee after considering the recommendation of the Committee. In accordance with regulatory requirements, the Board may counsel with, or obtain approval of, certain state insurance regulators in connection with the qualifications of individuals asked to become directors.

As outlined in its charter and the *Corporate Governance Guidelines*, the Governance Committee reviewed the continuation on the Board of those directors whose terms expire at this Meeting, taking into account the director s interest in continuing to serve, contributions to the Board, and the needs of the Board in terms of special areas of experience or other traits or skills. Following this review, the Committee recommended the re-election of the four nominees identified in this proxy statement Jon S. Fossel, Gloria C. Larson, William J. Ryan and Thomas R. Watjen.

#### **Determination of Independence of Directors**

In February 2004, the Board adopted *Corporate Governance Guidelines*, which were amended in May 2007. These guidelines meet or exceed the listing standards of the NYSE. The portion of the *Corporate Governance Guidelines* addressing director independence is included in this proxy statement under Governance-Related Items Independence of Directors. The full text of the *Corporate Governance Guidelines* can be found on Unum s website at www.unum.com under the Investor Information and Corporate Governance tabs. A copy of the Corporate Governance Guidelines is also available from the below address or by calling toll-free 800-718-8824.

Office of the Corporate Secretary

Unum Group

1 Fountain Square

Chattanooga, Tennessee, 37402

Our Corporate Secretary gathers information provided by the directors about their respective relationships and entities with which they are affiliated that might affect their independence from the Company. The Governance Committee reviews this information and makes recommendations to the Board as to the independence of the directors. The Board reviews those findings.

#### Stockholder Communications with the Board

You and other stockholders may communicate with our lead independent director currently our Chairman of the Board, Jon S. Fossel or any Board members by writing to the below address:

Office of the Corporate Secretary

Unum Group

1 Fountain Square

Chattanooga, Tennessee, 37402

Effective March 16, 2006, the Board approved a process for handling letters received by the Company and addressed to non-management members of the Board. Under this process, the Corporate Secretary reviews all such correspondence and regularly provides a log and copies of the correspondence to the lead independent director, who determines whether further distribution of correspondence is appropriate and to whom it should be sent. Any director may at any time review this log and request copies of correspondence. Concerns received relating to accounting, internal controls or auditing matters are promptly brought to the attention of the internal auditor and handled in accordance with procedures established by the Audit Committee. The Board has requested that certain items that are unrelated to the duties and responsibilities of the Board should be excluded from the process, including mass mailings, resumes and other forms of job inquiries, surveys, business solicitations or advertisements, and matters related to claims.

#### **Code of Business Practices and Ethics**

In May 2003, the Board adopted a code of business practices and ethics applicable to all directors, officers and employees of Unum. Separately, the Board adopted a code of ethics applicable to the CEO and certain senior financial officers of the Company. Both of these codes are available on our website at <a href="https://www.unum.com">www.unum.com</a>, under the Investor Information and Corporate Governance tabs. Copies are also available without charge from the below address or by calling toll-free 800-718-8824.

Office of the Corporate Secretary

Unum Group

1 Fountain Square

Chattanooga, Tennessee, 37402

The Company intends to provide notice of waivers of the code of business practices and ethics granted to executive officers or directors on our website and to report waivers of the code of ethics granted to the CEO or certain senior financial officers to the SEC, although no such waivers are anticipated.

A.S. (Pat) MacMillan, Jr., Chairman

Pamela H. Godwin

Gloria C. Larson

William J. Ryan

18

### GOVERNANCE-RELATED ITEMS

#### **Independence of Directors**

The Board presently has one inside director, and the Board believes that there should not be more than two. Inside directors generally include current officers and any person who has been an officer within the past five years. All others are regarded as independent, outside or non-management directors. A substantial majority of the full Board must have no material relationship with Unum and must otherwise meet the criteria for independence required by the NYSE. The Board has determined that the following current directors are independent: E. Michael Caulfield, Jon S. Fossel, Pamela H. Godwin, Ronald E. Goldsberry, Thomas Kinser, Gloria C. Larson, A.S. (Pat) MacMillan, Jr., Edward J. Muhl, Michael J. Passarella, and William J. Ryan. There is only one member of our Board who is not independent, Thomas R. Watjen, who is employed by Unum as its President and Chief Executive Officer. Hugh O. Maclellan, Jr., who retired from the Board in May 2007, was determined not to be independent during his service in 2007 because of the business relationship between one of his sons and the Company. This relationship is described later in this proxy statement under the caption Transactions With Related Persons. In reaching these determinations regarding director independence, the Board applied the standards set forth below which are required by the *Corporate Governance Guidelines* and include certain categorical standards as to immateriality.

Under NYSE standards, a director is not independent if:

He or she is, or has been within the last three years, an employee of Unum, or an immediate family member is, or has been within the last three years, an executive officer of the Company;

The director has received, or has an immediate family member who has received, during any 12-month period within the past three years, more than \$100,000 in direct compensation from Unum, other than director and Committee fees and pension or other forms of deferred compensation for prior service (provided such compensation is not contingent in any way on continued service);
(A) The director or an immediate family member is a current partner of a firm that is Unum s internal or external auditor; (B) the director is a current employee of such a firm; (C) the director has an immediate family member who is a current employee of such a firm and who participates in the firm s audit, assurance or tax compliance (but not tax planning) practice; or (D) the director or an immediate family member was within the last three years (but is no longer) a partner or employee of such a firm and worked on the Company s audit within that time;

The director or an immediate family member is, or has been employed as an executive officer of another company within the last three years, where any of Unum s present executive officers at the same time serves or served on that company s compensation committee: and

The director is a current employee, or an immediate family member is a current executive officer of a company that has made payments to, or received payments from, Unum for property or services in an amount which, in any of the last three fiscal years, exceeds the greater of \$1 million or two percent of such other company s consolidated gross revenues.

In accordance with listing standards of the NYSE, the Board has determined that the following categorical standards will be used to determine whether a relationship between a director and Unum is immaterial and requires no further analysis of the relationship in determining independence:

If a director is a current employee, or an immediate family member is a current executive officer, of another company that has made payments to, or received payments from, Unum for property or services in an amount which in any of the last three fiscal years, does not exceed the greater of \$1 million or two percent of such other company s consolidated gross revenues and, where there are comparable transactions, the relationship is in the ordinary course of business of Unum and is on substantially the same terms as those prevailing under competitive circumstances at the time for comparable transactions with non-affiliated parties.

Contributions to a charity in which a director of Unum serves as an officer, director or trustee that do not annually exceed a combined two percent of the charity s goal for the year (or other comparable goal as determined by the Governance Committee) or two percent of Unum s annual charitable contribution budget; provided, however, that this limitation shall not apply to annual United Way

contributions by Unum that have traditionally been made in communities in which the Company has operation centers with more than 500 employees and do not materially exceed the amount of the contribution in the prior year.

## Our Related Party Transaction Policy

Former Policy

Under our former written policy concerning transactions with related persons, related party transactions occur when the director is in a position to make or influence decisions pertaining to a proposed business relationship or transaction between the Company and:

- a) The director or a family member;
- b) A party in which the director or a family member has a direct or indirect financial interest;
- c) A party from which the director or a family member may derive a benefit; or
- d) A party where the director or a family member is employed (in each case, a related party).

Family members covered by this policy include parents, children, brothers, sisters, spouses, spouses parents, and any persons sharing the same household with the director. Under the policy, the Company means Unum Group and its subsidiaries.

Before the Company enters into a related party transaction, the director must disclose to the General Counsel the nature and extent of the director s relationship with the related party. As a general matter, if the only financial interest is ownership of less than 1% of the outstanding common stock of a publicly held company, then the transaction may proceed.

If feasible, any goods or services sought from the related entity will be subject to a competitive bidding process. Generally, before the related party is asked to submit a bid, there must be written authorization to proceed from the General Counsel. All bids will be evaluated and either accepted or rejected by a group comprised of designated senior officers including the senior officer from the area responsible for the transaction, unless such officer is a related party, in which case the Chief Executive Officer will serve in lieu of such senior officer. If, in the opinion of the General Counsel, competitive bids are not feasible, the General Counsel will determine whether the proposed transaction is on terms no less favorable to the Company than could be obtained from an unrelated third party. In either case, the decision must be based on the conclusion that the terms of the proposed transaction are fair to, and in the best interest of, the Company and the transaction is not a conflict of interest under our code of business practices and ethics. If a director is involved in a potential related party transaction within the scope of this policy, the director also must disclose his or her relationship with the related party to the Audit Committee. If the designated senior officers decide the related party has made the most favorable bid or, if the General Counsel determines the transaction is no less favorable to us than a third-party offer, and that it is fair and in the best interest of the Company, the audit Committee will decide whether we should enter into the proposed transaction or make a recommendation to the board of directors for its determination. Once the director has disclosed his or her relationship with the related party, the director should not participate in the decision, influence any person participating in the decision, or attend the meeting of the Audit Committee or Board while the related party transaction is being discussed.

For related party transactions that would be reportable under Item 404(a) of Regulation S-K of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, regardless of a director s or an executive officer s ability to make or influence a decision, the above procedures are followed and the Audit Committee or the Board will have authority to approve the transaction or ratify the transaction as it deems appropriate.

When a related party is allowed to proceed with a transaction, appropriate controls are utilized with respect to payment for, and evaluation of the entity s performance.

#### Current Policy

Our current written policy concerning related party transactions, which was approved by the Board in May 2007, defines—related party transaction—as any transaction in which we were or are to be a participant and the amount involved exceeds \$120,000, and in which any related party had or will have a direct or indirect material interest. Related party—includes any director, director nominee, executive officer of the Company, any person who beneficially owns more than 5% of the Company—s stock, and any member of any of their immediate family or any company or other entity in which they have at least a 10% interest or other material financial interest. Immediate family members covered under this policy include any child, stepchild, parent, stepparent, spouse, sibling, mother-in-law, father-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law and any other person (other than a tenant or employee) sharing the household with the nominee, director, executive officer, or 5% beneficial owner.

Prior to entering into the transaction, the related party must notify our General Counsel of the facts and circumstances of the transaction. The General Counsel determines whether the proposed transaction is a related party transaction. If the transaction is determined to be a related party transaction, it is submitted to the disinterested members of the Audit Committee for consideration at the next Audit Committee meeting (or to the Chair of the Committee if it is not practical to wait until the next meeting and the Chair is not a related party to the transaction). The Audit Committee considers all relevant facts and circumstances, including the benefits to the Company, benefits to the related party, and if the related party is an independent director or nominee, the potential effect on the director s or nominee s independence of entering into the transaction, any improper conflict of interest that may exist, the availability of other sources for the products and services, the terms of the transaction, and the terms available from or to unrelated third parties generally. The transaction may be approved if it is determined in good faith not to be inconsistent with the best interests of the Company and its stockholders. Certain types of transactions are deemed to be pre-approved by the Audit Committee, including executive officer and director compensation arrangements approved by the Board of Directors or the Human Capital Committee, any transaction between the Company and any entity in which a related party has a relationship solely as a director, less than 10% equity holder, or an employee (other than an executive officer) or all of these relationships.

#### Transactions with Related Persons

In 2007, we paid broker commissions totaling approximately \$512,000 to Daniel O. Maclellan, the son of former director Hugh O. Maclellan, Jr., and his enrollment firm, Cornerstone Enrollment Services. These commissions related to sales of our products primarily voluntary workplace benefits products and enrollment services. Whether a broker is chosen to place business with us or selected to provide enrollment services depends on the decision of the customer purchasing a policy and/or another broker who may be involved in the transaction, not on a decision by the Company. The commissions were paid in the ordinary course of business and on the same terms and conditions as those paid to other brokers. The amount of commissions paid to Daniel O. Maclellan (and the thousands of other brokers with whom we do business) are based on a schedule of commissions determined by the product sold, the amount of premium collected, and any other services provided. Hugh O. Maclellan, Jr. retired from our Board in May 2007. Under the policy relating to related party transactions at the time Daniel Maclellan became a broker for us, because our director, Hugh O. Maclellan, Jr., was not in a position to make or influence decisions pertaining to the relationship or transactions between us and his son, it was not required to be approved by the Board. However, the Board was informed of the relationship, was advised by management that it was on an arms-length basis and was beneficial to us, and in the course of approving of the relationship in accordance with our then in effect policy, determined that Hugh O. Maclellan, Jr. was not independent because of the relationship, as discussed in Governance-Related Items Independence of Directors above. Subsequently, the Board ratified the relationship under our former Related Party Transaction Policy that existed at the time, which is described above.

On March 31, 2008, E. Liston Bishop, III, Interim General Counsel, became an executive officer of the Company. Mr. Bishop is an equity member in Miller & Martin PLLC. As an equity member, he is entitled to a

21

percentage of the firm s distributable net profits. That percentage is 1.55%. The percentage is computed without regard to revenues from a particular client but on all revenues of the firm. Fees for his services and those of other attorneys and paralegals in the firm will be paid by us for services they perform on our behalf. These fees will be based on hourly rates negotiated between us and the firm, which rates are at least as favorable as any rates regularly charged by the firm to any of its other clients. The approximate dollar value to be paid in connection with the services to be provided will depend on the number of hours worked on our behalf and cannot be accurately estimated at this time, but is expected to exceed \$120,000. Mr. Bishop will not engage other members of his firm to provide services to us, and will not review or approve any invoices for payments to the firm. Pursuant to our current Related Party Transactions Policy (as described above), the proposed transaction was reviewed and approved by our Audit Committee.

## **ELECTION OF DIRECTORS**

(Item 1 on the Proxy Card)

Our Board of Directors currently has 11 members. The Board is divided into three classes. Generally, at each annual meeting, one class of directors, or approximately one-third of the total number of directors, will be elected and the term of that class is three years. The term of the Class III directors expires with this Meeting.

The Board of Directors proposes the election of Jon S. Fossel, Gloria C. Larson, William J. Ryan, and Thomas R. Watjen as Class III directors, each to hold office for a term of three years expiring at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held in 2011 and until their successors are elected and qualified or until his or her earlier death, resignation or retirement. Each nominee is currently serving as a member of the Board of Directors of the Company.

We expect each nominee for election as a director to be able to serve if elected. If any nominee becomes unable to serve, the persons named as proxies on the proxy card will vote for a substitute nominee the Board of Directors recommends, if any.

# THE BOARD UNANIMOUSLY RECOMMENDS THAT YOU VOTE FOR THE ELECTION OF THESE NOMINEES AS DIRECTORS.

Proxies solicited by the Board of Directors will be voted FOR this proposal unless you specify otherwise in your proxy.

23

#### Nominees for Election for Terms Expiring in 2011

Below are the individuals, along with their photographs, ages, positions, principal occupations, business experience and directorships, who are the four nominees for directors with terms expiring in 2011.

#### Jon S. Fossel

Mr. Fossel, 66, became Chairman of the Board of the Company effective October 1, 2006. Mr. Fossel retired as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the OppenheimerFunds in 1996. He continues to serve as a trustee of 40 of the Denver-based OppenheimerFunds mutual funds. In November 2004, Mr. Fossel also became a director of Northwestern Corporation d/b/a Northwestern Energy. Northwestern Energy is an electricity and natural gas provider. He has been a director since 2002, and his term expires in 2008.

#### Gloria C. Larson

Ms. Larson, 57, currently holds the position of President of Bentley College. She previously served as Co-Chairperson of the Government Practices Group of the law firm Foley Hoag LLP and Coordinator for the Administrative Practices Group. Prior to joining Foley Hoag, she was Secretary of Economic Affairs for the Commonwealth of Massachusetts from 1993 to 1996 and Secretary of Consumer Affairs and Business Regulation from 1991 to 1993. Before joining the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, she was Deputy Director of Consumer Protection for the Federal Trade Commission and an attorney in private practice. She has been a director since 2004, and her term expires in 2008.

#### William J. Ryan

Mr. Ryan, 64, is currently Chairman of TD Banknorth Inc. a banking and financial services company. He previously served as President, Chief Executive Officer and a Director of TD Banknorth Inc. until March 2007. He was Chairman, President, Chief Executive Officer and a Director of Banknorth Group Inc. until March 2005, when it was merged into TD Banknorth Inc. He was President and Chief Executive Officer of People s Heritage Savings Bank from 1989 until its merger with Banknorth in 2000. Prior to 1989, he held a number of leadership positions with Bank of New England North, most recently as President and Chief Executive Officer. He is also a director of Wellpoint, Inc. He has been a director since 2004, and his term expires in 2008.

#### Thomas R. Watjen

Mr. Watjen, 53, has been the Company s President and Chief Executive Officer since March 2003. He served as Vice Chairman and Chief Operating Officer from May 2002 until March 2003. He became Executive Vice President, Finance in June 1999 and assumed additional Risk Management responsibilities in November 1999. He has been a director since 2002, and his term expires in 2008.

24

#### **Continuing Directors**

Below are the seven directors whose terms are continuing through 2009 and 2010.

#### E. Michael Caulfield

Mr. Caulfield, 61, served as President of Mercer Human Resource Consulting from September 2005 until September 2006, prior to which he had served as Chief Operating Officer from July 2005. He retired as Executive Vice President of Prudential Insurance Company in 2000. Mr. Caulfield held a number of executive positions with Prudential Insurance Company from 1989 to his retirement, including Executive Vice President of Financial Management, Chief Executive Officer of Prudential Investments, and President of both Prudential Preferred Financial Services and Prudential Property and Casualty Company. Prior to joining Prudential, he was a partner in Greenwich Associates, and held various executive positions at Mellon National Corp. He previously served as a director of the Company from August 2004 to July 2005. He rejoined Unum as a director on January 1, 2007 and his term expires in 2010.

#### Pamela H. Godwin

Ms. Godwin, 59, has been President of Change Partners, Inc., a consulting firm specializing in organizational change and growth initiatives, since 2001. From 1999 to 2001, she was President and Chief Operating Officer of the personal lines agency division of GMAC Insurance. Previously, she was Senior Vice President of customer management for the credit card division of Advanta Corporation and President and Chief Operating Officer of Academy Insurance Group, a unit of Providian Corporation. From 1974 to 1988, she held a number of executive positions within Colonial Penn Group, Inc., including Senior Vice President of property/casualty claims. She has been a director since 2004, and her term expires in 2009.

#### Ronald E. Goldsberry

Dr. Goldsberry, 65, is an independent contractor to Deloitte Consulting. He served as Chairman of OnStation Corporation (formerly known as Carstation.com) from November 1999 until August 2006, and as Chief Executive Officer of OnStation from January to May 2002 and from November 1999 to March 2001. He served as Global Vice President and General Manager of Global Ford Customer Service Operations at Ford Motor Company from January 1997 to November 1999. Prior to that time, Dr. Goldsberry served as General Manager of the Customer Service Division of Ford Motor Company from February 1994 to December 1996 and General Sales and Marketing Manager for the Parts and Service Division from October 1991 to February 1994. He has been a director since 1999, and was a director of predecessor company UNUM Corporation from 1993 until its merger with Provident Companies in 1999. His term expires in 2010.

25

#### Thomas Kinser

Mr. Kinser, 64, was President, Chief Executive Officer and a Director of BlueCross BlueShield of Tennessee from 1994 to 2003. From 1991 to 1994, he was Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer of BlueCross BlueShield Association in Chicago. Previously, from 1976 to 1991, he held a number of executive positions with BlueCross BlueShield of Georgia, including President and Chief Executive Officer. He has been a director since 2004, and his term expires in 2009.

#### A.S. (Pat) MacMillan, Jr.

Mr. MacMillan, 64, has served as the Chief Executive Officer of Triaxia Partners, Inc. (formerly known as Team Resources, Inc.) since 1980. Triaxia s practice areas include organizational strategy and design, as well as team and leadership development. Specific services include management consulting, management training and organizational audits. He is also a trustee of The Maclellan Foundation, Inc., and a director of MetoKote Corporation. He has been a director since 1995, and his term expires in 2009.

#### Edward J. Muhl

Mr. Muhl, 63, served as the National Leader of the Insurance Regulatory Advisory Practice of PricewaterhouseCoopers from 2001 until his retirement in June 2005. He was Senior Managing Director of Navigant Consulting, Inc. from 1998 to 2000, which he joined as Executive Vice President in 1997. Mr. Muhl previously served as the Superintendent of Insurance of the State of New York from 1995 to 1997 and as the Insurance Commissioner of the State of Maryland from 1982 to 1988, and was President of the National Association of Insurance Commissioners. He is also a director of Farm Family Insurance Company. He has been a director since 2005, and his term expires in 2009.

#### Michael J. Passarella

Mr. Passarella, 66, was an audit partner of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP from 1975 until his retirement in 2002. He served as the managing partner of that firm s securities industry practice from 1983 to 1998 and was the capital markets industry global audit leader from 1998 to 2001. Mr. Passarella served as a director and Chairman of the Audit Committee of Archipelago Holdings, Inc., from August, 2004 until its merger in March 2006 with the New York Stock Exchange. He is also a director of NYFIX, Inc. He has been a director since 2006, and his term expires in 2010.

26

#### How are nominations for election to the Board made?

Under our Bylaws, nominations of persons for election to the Board of Directors may be made at a meeting of stockholders by or at the direction of the Board of Directors. Such a nomination may be made by any nominating committee or person appointed by the Board, or by any stockholder of Unum entitled to vote for the election of directors at the meeting. Our policy is to consider candidates recommended by stockholders in the same manner as other candidates.

#### Nomination Timeliness

Notice of such nominations, other than those made by or at the direction of the Board, shall be made in a timely manner in writing to our Corporate Secretary by a stockholder of Unum. To be timely, a stockholder s notice shall be delivered to, or mailed and received at, our principal executive offices not less than 60 days nor more than 90 days prior to the meeting. In the event that less than 75 days notice or prior public disclosure of the meeting is given or made to stockholders, notice by the stockholder of a nomination must be so received by the close of business on the 15th day following the mailing of notice or public disclosure of the meeting.

#### **Nomination Information**

Such stockholder s notice shall set forth the following information:

- a) As to each person whom the stockholder proposes to nominate for election or re-election as a director:
  - I. The name, age, business address and residence address of the person;
  - II. The principal occupation or employment of the person;
  - III. The class and number of shares of the Company which are beneficially owned by the person;
  - IV. A description of all arrangements, understandings or relationships between the stockholder and each nominee, and any other relevant person or persons;
  - V. All information required by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners Biographical Affidavit and attachments, as amended or replaced; and
  - VI. Any other information relating to the person that is required to be disclosed in solicitations of proxies for election of directors pursuant to Rule 14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Act ), and any other applicable laws, rules or regulations of any governmental authority, or of any national securities exchange or similar body overseeing any trading market on which shares of the Company are traded.
- b) As to the stockholder giving the notice:
  - I. The name and address of record of the stockholder and its principals (as hereinafter defined) and the beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the nomination is made, and the name and address of record of any person that owns or controls, directly or indirectly, 10% or more of any class of securities or interests in such stockholder or beneficial owner;
  - II. The class and number of shares of the Company which are beneficially owned by the stockholder and such beneficial owner:
  - III. A list of all stockholder proposals and director nominations made by the stockholder during the prior 10 years;
  - IV. A list of all litigation filed against principals of the stockholder during the prior 10 years asserting a breach of fiduciary duty or a breach of loyalty;
  - V. A representation that the stockholder is a holder of record of shares of the Company entitled to vote at such meeting and intends to appear in person or by proxy at the meeting to nominate the person or persons specified in the notice. A principal of a stockholder shall be the chief executive officer (or the equivalent) of the stockholder and any individual who owns 10% or more, directly or indirectly, of any class of securities or interests in the stockholder and is employed by the stockholder; and

27

# Edgar Filing: Unum Group - Form DEF 14A

## **Table of Contents**

VI. All information required by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners Biographical Affidavit and attachments, as amended or replaced.

No potential director nominated by a stockholder is eligible for election as a director unless nominated in accordance with these procedures.

28

## SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

The following table shows the number of shares of common stock beneficially owned as of March 24, 2008, by each director and each named executive and by all directors and executive officers as a group. The table also includes information about stock options, restricted stock and deferred share rights credited to the accounts of directors and executive officers under various compensation and benefit plans. Restricted stock units that represent a contingent right to receive shares of the Company s common stock are also reported below, but are not included in the Total Shares Beneficially Owned. No shares are pledged as security.

		Shares Beneficially Owned			Deferred		
		Subject to Options	Shares of		Share	Total	% of
	Shares	Exercisable	Restricted	Restricted	Rights or	Shares	Company
	Beneficially	as of May 22,		Stock	Phantom	Beneficially	Common
Name	Owned	2008	Stock	Units(4)	Shares	Owned	Stock
E. Michael Caulfield	797	0	1,840	0	5,877	8,514	*
Jon S. Fossel	7,674	0	1,840	0	7,794	17,308	*
Pamela H. Godwin	2,000	0	1,840	0	18,693	22,533	*
Ronald E. Goldsberry	16,915	9,533	1,840	0	26,380(1)	54,668	*
Thomas Kinser	1,000	0	1,840	0	13,715	16,555	*
Gloria C. Larson	0	0	1,840	0	18,759	20,599	*
A. S. (Pat) MacMillan, Jr.	327	8,331	1,840	0	5,243	15,741	*
Edward J. Muhl	2,500	0	1,840	0	0	4,340	*
Michael J. Passarella	0	0	1,840	0	2,399	4,239	*
William J. Ryan	1,400	0	1,840	0	13,629	16,689	*
Thomas R. Watjen (2)	566,297	1,477,702	145,602	180,787	0	2,189,601	*
Robert O. Best (2)	102,012	95,590	25,757	24,794	0	223,359	*
Robert C. Greving (2)	39,707	71,780	23,539	24,174	0	135,026	*
Randy C. Horn (2)	25,272	0	23,630	20,455	0	48,902	*
Kevin P. McCarthy (2)	46,606	48,550	25,285	33,898	0	120,441	*
All directors and executive officers							
as a group (1)(2)(3)	850,811	1,731,926	296,507	296,130	112,489	2,991,733	*

<sup>\*</sup> Denotes less than one percent.

- (1) Includes number of deferred share rights credited to Dr. Goldsberry s account under the former UNUM Corporation 1998 Director s Deferred Compensation Plan as well as dividends declared on such rights.
- (2) Shares owned by Messrs. Watjen, Best, and Greving and the executive officers as a group include shares owned in the Company s 401(k) plan.
- (3) Includes shares owned jointly or separately by spouses and minor children of all directors and executive officers as a group. Does not include 445 shares of Company s common stock voted solely by one of Ms. Ring s immediate family members, of which beneficial ownership is disclaimed.
- (4) Does not include performance-based restricted stock units granted under the Equity Performance Grant described in more detail beginning on page 44. The following persons received these grants: Mr. Watjen 300,000; Mr. Best 100,000; Mr. Greving 60,000; Mr. Horn 100,000; Mr. McCarthy 120,000; all other executive officers: 140,000.

29

# SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE

Under Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, our directors, executive officers, and 10 percent beneficial holders of our common stock are required to file with the Securities and Exchange Commission certain forms reporting their beneficial ownership of and transactions in Unum common stock. Based solely upon information provided by each such person, we believe each of its directors and executive officers and 10 percent beneficial owners filed all required reports on a timely basis during the last fiscal year.

## REPORT OF THE HUMAN CAPITAL COMMITTEE

The Human Capital Committee has reviewed and discussed the Compensation Discussion and Analysis required by Item 402(b) of Regulation S-K with Unum s management. Based on this review and discussion, the Committee recommended to the Board that this Compensation Discussion and Analysis be included in this proxy statement and in the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007.

William J. Ryan, Chairman

Pamela H. Godwin

Thomas Kinser

A.S. (Pat) MacMillan, Jr.

## COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

## **Summary**

In this section, Unum is providing information on its executive compensation practices, including how and why executive compensation decisions are made as well as how the different pieces of compensation fit together. The primary objective of this section is to give stockholders an understanding of the basis and context for granting different types and amounts of executive compensation.

Our compensation programs are designed to reward achievement of corporate objectives through both competitive base pay and incentive opportunities. Because they are tied to corporate objectives, these compensation programs will change as corporate objectives change. For 2007, there were a number of changes to our compensation programs, including: a revision to the peer group used for benchmarking executive pay; the elimination of most perquisites; the introduction of new stock ownership guidelines; a change in the long-term incentive program; and a one-time equity performance grant for certain individuals. Information about these changes, including the rationale for each, is discussed in detail throughout this section, along with a general overview of our compensation programs. This year s proxy statement also includes disclosure of performance targets for both annual incentive and long-term incentive awards.

In addition to the required disclosure and tables, we have included information and supplemental tables that specifically address the following:

Total compensation earned for 2007 by our named executives Targeted 2008 compensation and the basis of this compensation Each named executives—stock ownership as of December 31, 2007

Our highest paid executives, including the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and the other individuals included in the Summary Compensation Table on page 50, are the named executives.

## **Compensation Philosophy and Administration**

What are Unum s primary compensation objectives?

Our compensation programs are designed to reward the achievement of corporate objectives. We believe stockholder value is enhanced through compensation that (1) rewards performance that enables us to achieve our corporate objectives and (2) is competitive enough to attract and retain talented executives and employees. Our core compensation objectives are as follows:

Provide a base salary that reflects the competitive market as well as the roles, skills, abilities, experience and performance of employees;

Create a culture of performance by providing all employees with incentive opportunities in addition to their base salary; and Align the long-term interests of management and stockholders and promote a culture of ownership in the Company by (1) offering key managers equity-based compensation opportunities and (2) requiring senior executive officers to retain equity awards for a specified period of time.

#### Who is responsible for evaluating and administering executive compensation?

The Human Capital Committee, an appointed Committee of the Board consisting solely of independent directors, is responsible for evaluating, designing and administering a compensation program for executive officers and directors that ensures a link exists between pay, Company performance, individual performance, and the creation of stockholder value.

The Committee is directly responsible for evaluating the performance of the CEO as well as for determining the elements of his compensation. The CEO does not participate in any process related to the establishment of his own pay, nor does he have any decision-making authority with regard to his compensation. All decisions with respect to CEO compensation are made by the Committee.

In determining the compensation for the other named executives, the Committee receives a performance assessment and compensation recommendations from Mr. Watjen for those executives who report to him. While the Committee considers Mr. Watjen s recommendations, it also uses its judgment in determining compensation for the named executives based on the Board s interactions with these individuals.

## Does the Human Capital Committee use an outside consultant for advice?

The Committee has engaged Towers Perrin as its independent compensation consultant. In this capacity, Towers Perrin provides the Committee with objective and expert analyses, advice and information with respect to the CEO and other executive compensation. Additional information about services provided by Towers Perrin may be found on page 12.

Towers Perrin received total compensation of \$450,042 for services to the Human Capital Committee in 2007.

## How do members of management support the Human Capital Committee?

Members of our finance, human resources and legal staff support the Committee in its work by providing information and responding to questions. Additionally, employees from these departments discuss various forms of executive compensation with the Committee s outside consultant, including how the compensation fits with other programs and business strategy. While this group may make recommendations about forms of executive compensation, the final decision on all executive compensation issues rests with the Committee.

## **Benchmarking and Peer Group Design**

#### Does Unum use any external data to compare executive compensation?

Yes. When making compensation decisions, we look at the compensation of our CEO and the other named executives relative to the compensation paid to similarly-situated executives at companies considered to be peers. This is often referred to as benchmarking. We believe, however, that a benchmark should be just that a point of reference for measurement but not the only determining factor for executive compensation. It does not take the place of internal analyses, nor of the performance of the Company and individual.

We use two sources for benchmarking executive compensation. The primary source for benchmarking the pay of named executives other than the CEO is the Towers Perrin Diversified Insurance Study, which is a private study of approximately 30 large insurance companies (see the table on page 34), most of which are key competitors for

## Edgar Filing: Unum Group - Form DEF 14A

#### **Table of Contents**

executive talent. We use this data source for our named executives because we believe it is a relevant comparison, it represents an unbiased selection of companies, and it remains relatively constant.

The primary source for benchmarking pay practices for the CEO is a proxy peer group (see the table on page 34), which includes a mix of insurance and financial services companies that, like the Towers Perrin Diversified Insurance Study companies, are competitors for executive talent. Prior to 2008, before changes were made to the proxy peer group as described below, the Towers Perrin Diversified Insurance Study was the primary source for benchmarking CEO pay practices and the proxy peer group was used as a secondary source.

### Why does Unum use separate benchmarking sources for the named executives and the CEO?

We use the proxy peer group for benchmarking CEO pay because the CEO role is generally consistent across companies. The proxy peer group is not used for other named executives because non-CEO roles, particularly heads of subsidiaries and other business units, tend not to be directly comparable across other companies. Additionally, certain individuals who may be in comparable positions at other companies may not be named executives for proxy statement purposes at those companies, in which case their compensation data would not be available.

### How often are peer groups reviewed and how are they selected?

The Committee reviews the proxy peer group list periodically, and companies are added and deleted from this list as either industry consolidation occurs or our corporate objectives change. In 2007, using guidance provided by Towers Perrin, the Committee revised the proxy peer group that is utilized to benchmark compensation for the CEO. The proxy peer group was developed using the following protocols. First, companies within the same industry sector were identified (as determined by the Standard & Poor's Global Industry Classification Standards). Because Unum is a niche player, the list was broadened to include both property and casualty as well as life and health insurers. Second, the peer list was adjusted to include both larger and smaller companies, with Unum being about median within the peer group in terms of assets, revenue, and market capitalization. Third, the peer group was reviewed to confirm that the companies represented a comparable labor market (organizations that have recruited from us in the past and who are themselves potential sources of talent for us) and similar financial performance levels. This process expanded the peer group from eight to 18 companies, which provided more robust and meaningful statistics.

What companies are included in the Towers Perrin Diversified Insurance Study?

The table below shows the companies included in the Towers Perrin Diversified Insurance Study for 2007.

## **Towers Perrin Diversified Insurance Study Companies**

Company		
Aegon USA	Hartford Financial Services	Pacific Life
Aetna	ING	Phoenix Companies
AFLAC	John Hancock	Principal Financial
AIG	Lincoln Financial	Prudential Financial
Allianz/Life USA	Massachusetts Mutual	Securian Financial
Allstate	MetLife	Sun Life Financial
American United Life	Mutual of Omaha	Thrivent Financial
AXA Equitable	Nationwide	TIAA-CREF
CIGNA	New York Life	Unum
Guardian Life	Northwestern Mutual	USAA

What companies are included in Unum s new proxy peer group?

The companies in the new proxy peer group are listed in the below table. Based on their 2007 proxy statements, of these 18 companies, 10 also include us in their proxy peer groups.

## **Proxy Peer Group**

	Revenues	
	(for most recent available four quarters ended prior to 12/31/07)	Market Capitalization (as of 12/31/07)
	prior to 12/3/10/)	(43 01 12/31/07)
Company	\$ in millions	\$ in millions
Aetna	\$ 27,600	\$ 28,651
AFLAC	15,393	30,471
Aon	7,471	14,526
Assurant	8,454	7,881
CIGNA	17,623	15,022
Conseco	4,572	2,319
Genworth	11,125	11,096
Hartford Financial	25,916	27,364
Humana	25,290	12,804
Lincoln Financial	10,594	15,384
	Revenues	
	(for most recent	
	available four	Market
	quarters ended	Capitalization
	prior to 12/31/07)	(as of 12/31/07)
Company	\$ in millions	\$ in millions

# Edgar Filing: Unum Group - Form DEF 14A

Marsh & McLennan	\$ 11,350	\$ 13,775
MetLife	53,007	44,935
Phoenix Companies	2,573	1,357
Principal Financial	10,907	17,836
Protective Life	3,052	2,867
Prudential	34,401	41,626
Stancorp	2,709	2,476
Torchmark	3,487	5,579
Unum	10,520	8,586

#### Does Unum set targets for how its executive compensation should compare to other companies?

Each element of our executive compensation is generally targeted at the 50<sup>th</sup> percentile of the market (this means that 50 percent of the companies fall below this point and 50 percent are above it). Additionally, the targeted total cash (base salary plus annual incentive) and total direct compensation (base salary plus both targeted annual and long-term incentive) elements are compared to the 50<sup>th</sup> percentile of the peer group. The 50<sup>th</sup> percentile is selected as a point of comparison in order to ensure that we are able to compete in the market for executive talent.

With respect to the CEO, the Human Capital Committee compares each of the compensation elements to the proxy peer group as well as to the 50<sup>th</sup> percentile of the Towers Perrin Diversified Insurance Study companies.

#### Does the Human Capital Committee rely solely on peer group data when making decisions?

No. In fact, while peer group data is important, it is secondary to the primary factors considered by the Committee: Company performance, individual performance, the executive s level of responsibility and the creation of stockholder value.

## **Elements of Pay (2007 Performance)**

#### What are the elements of compensation for executive officers?

The elements of compensation for Unum s named executive officers are: (1) an annual base salary, (2) an annual incentive award, (3) long-term incentive awards, (4) a benefits package and (5) certain limited perquisites, each of which is described later in this section. The annual and long-term incentives make up the majority of the named executives total compensation.

Unum provides a base salary and benefits package that management and the Human Capital Committee believe is consistent with market practice for our industry and allows us to attract and retain talented executives and employees. The annual incentive provides a focus on short-term performance, while the long-term incentive encourages the achievement of corporate goals and growth of stockholder value over the longer term. The limited perquisites we provide may be part of a negotiated employment package or may satisfy a business need. Effective January 2007, Mr. Watjen voluntarily gave up the majority of his perquisites, and in January 2008 we replaced nearly all of the perquisites of our other named executives with additional equivalent salary. More information about this change can be found later in this section.

During 2007, our Board of Directors approved a one-time, performance-based grant of restricted stock units to approximately 50 key officers of the Company (the Equity Performance Grant ). This 2007 Equity Performance Grant is designed to more closely align the senior leadership group with both corporate and stockholder objectives. More information about this grant can be found beginning on page 44.

### How is incentive compensation determined?

Annual incentives are based on (1) our performance against pre-determined targets, (2) the performance of the respective business unit against pre-determined targets and (3) the performance of the individual.

Long-term incentives are equity-based, and as a result their value is determined by share price performance over a longer period. Additionally, long-term incentives are based on our achievement of certain annual goals in the prior year.

#### Is there a policy for allocating the mix of pay?

Consistent with our philosophy of creating a culture of performance, a majority of total compensation is allocated to annual and long-term incentives and as a result is considered at risk. We do not have a pre-determined policy for allocating cash and non-cash, or short-term and long-term incentive compensation. Instead, the Human

Table of Contents 47

35

Capital Committee periodically reviews the Diversified Insurance Study analysis described earlier to ensure an appropriate level and mix of compensation based on competitive practices.

#### **Base Salary**

#### How often are base salaries reviewed?

The Human Capital Committee reviews base salaries for executive officers on an annual basis, as well as at the time of a promotion or other change in responsibilities. Increases in base salaries, if any, are determined after an evaluation of several factors, including Company performance, individual performance and the individual s level of responsibility. Base salaries are also compared to those within the appropriate peer group and to other executives in the Company.

### How is the base salary for the CEO determined?

Mr. Watjen s base salary is determined by his employment agreement, his individual performance, his overall level of responsibility and the performance of the Company since he became Chief Executive Officer in 2003.

Mr. Watjen s individual performance is evaluated annually by the Board of Directors based on two primary factors. The first is a set of individual goals agreed upon by Mr. Watjen and the Board. For 2006, those goals included: improving the performance of the U.S. Brokerage unit (now Unum US); successfully meeting the obligations contained in the California and multistate regulatory settlements; improving the balance sheet to create long-term customer and stockholder value; and developing deeper leadership at all levels of the Company.

The second is an assessment by each Board member of Mr. Watjen s performance, taking into account the following criteria:

Strategic planning
Financial results
Operating efficiency
Succession and leadership planning
Employee relations
Communications
Ethics
Regulatory compliance

Investor relations

Board relations

Relationships with other constituents

As part of this process, Board members provide Towers Perrin with their confidential performance evaluations of the CEO. Towers Perrin reviews these evaluations and provides a summary to the Human Capital Committee prior to its February meeting at which CEO compensation is determined.

Effective March 1, 2007, after considering all of these factors, the Committee raised Mr. Watjen s annual base salary to \$1,050,000 from his previous salary of \$1,000,000, an increase of five percent.

## How are the base salaries of other named executives determined?

As with the CEO, the primary factor for determining base salaries for the other named executives is individual performance. Each individual is assessed against the following criteria:

Company financial results Performance against individual performance goals Ethics Regulatory compliance

Results of a 360 survey, which is focused on:

- personal results orientation
- partnering
- expertise and competence
- customer focus
- leadership
- judgment and decision making
- professional integrity

Mr. Watjen makes recommendations to the Human Capital Committee for those executives reporting directly to him, including the named executives. In addition to evaluating individual performance, the Committee analyzes the base salaries of named executives at companies in the Towers Perrin Diversified Insurance Study. After taking all of these factors into consideration, the Committee approved the following increases effective March 1, 2007: Mr. Greving s salary was increased from \$380,000 to \$390,000 based on merit; Mr. McCarthy s base salary increased from \$440,000 to \$525,000 based on the above and to reflect the additional obligations associated with his promotion to President and Chief Executive Officer of Unum US; Mr. Best s salary was increased from \$440,000 to \$480,000 based on merit and in recognition of the additional responsibilities associated with his promotion to Chief Operating Officer of Unum US; and Mr. Horn s salary increased from \$400,000 to \$440,000, based on the above and to reflect the significant improvement in Colonial s financial performance. Mr. Horn appears as a named executive in the proxy statement for the first time.

Base salary earnings of the named executives for 2007 are reflected in column (c) of the Summary Compensation Table on page 50.

#### **Annual Incentive**

#### What is the purpose of an annual incentive?

The purpose of the annual incentive is to reward performance based on the achievement of both Company and individual goals. The Management Incentive Compensation Plan of 2004 is the primary plan we used for annual incentive compensation in 2007.

## How are targets for annual incentives determined?

The Human Capital Committee sets annual incentive targets as a percentage of each named executive s base salary. The target is established based on the individual s position and responsibilities, including the relative contribution of that position to the overall success of the Company, as well as on market data from the Towers Perrin Diversified Insurance Study. For 2007, the annual incentive targets (as a percentage of base salary) for the named executives were: 150% for Mr. Watjen; 65% for Mr. Greving; 80% for Mr. McCarthy; 70% for Mr. Best; and 65% for Mr. Horn.

#### Are there corporate performance thresholds that must be met in order for an annual incentive to be paid?

Yes. Each year, the Committee establishes a financial threshold that must be achieved as a condition to any payments under the annual incentive plan. The threshold is two times the amount of operating earnings needed to pay dividends and cover interest on our debt.

#### Once the threshold is met, how is the amount of payment determined?

In February of each year, the Committee sets performance measures with the levels or ranges of payment for each target. Measures and targets are established for the enterprise as a whole (Unum Group) as well as for each of the subsidiary or business units (Unum US, Colonial Life & Accident, and Unum UK), and weightings are

37

assigned to each performance measure based on its relative importance to the Company or business unit as well as on its potential impact on stockholder returns. At the end of each year, the Committee evaluates our performance against each corporate performance measure, comparing the actual results to the targets established for each performance measure.

#### What are the performance measures for the respective incentive plans?

The 2007 performance measures and their weightings are as follows:

#### 2007 Performance Measures and Weightings

Performance Measure	Unum Group	Unum US	Colonial Life	Unum UK
Pre-tax operating income	40%	40%	40%	40%
Return on equity	25%			
Revenue	25%			
Operating expenses	10%	10%	10%	10%
Earned premium		25%	10%	15%
Sales		15%	25%	15%
Service (1)		10%	15%	20%

(1) The Service measure is based on a combination of how the Company scores on external customer satisfaction surveys as well as internal measures such as call center speed of answering calls, how quickly we can issue a policy once a case is sold, how long it takes to make STD claims decisions, etc. These are non-GAAP measures and cannot be calculated using the audited financial statements. However, given the small weighting on the Service measure, it is not material to an understanding of the compensation disclosed.

### Are all of the named executives incentive awards based on the Unum Group performance measures?

Yes, although the portion of each named executive s annual incentive award based on Unum Group performance differs. Mr. Watjen s and Mr. Greving s incentive awards for 2007 results were based solely on the Unum Group plan. For Mr. McCarthy and Mr. Best, 25% of their awards were based on the Unum Group plan, and 75% was based on the Unum US plan. For Mr. Horn, 25% of his award was based on the Unum Group plan, and the remaining 75% was based on Colonial Life s plan.

## Does the Human Capital Committee take into consideration any exceptions or unusual items when determining Unum sperformance?

When the Committee set the performance measures and weightings for the year, it established a list of adjustments that, if they occurred, would be excluded from the calculation of our performance for purposes of the incentive plan. Among these items were reserve adjustments resulting from accounting or legal changes that were not included in the financial plan, implementation costs associated with the Regulatory Settlement Agreement and California Settlement Agreement, and debt retirement costs that were not included in the plan. Additionally, the Committee considers a qualitative assessment of the results for the year.

#### Did the Human Capital Committee exclude any of these items for 2007?

Yes. In measuring financial results for 2007, the Committee excluded certain unusual items, including the costs of the claims reassessment concluded in the fourth quarter of 2007 and the costs related to the retirement of debt.

## What were the performance targets in 2007?

The following table shows the performance targets for Unum Group, Unum US, Colonial Life and Unum UK:

## 2007 Annual Incentive Award Performance Targets

T. 0		
Performance		
	Component	
Measure	Weighting	Target
<u>Unum Group:</u>		
Pre-tax operating income	40%	\$1,009.3 million
Return on equity	25%	9.40%
Revenue	25%	\$10,480.6 million
Operating expenses	10%	\$281.9 million
Unum US:		
Pre-tax operating income	40%	\$667.3 million
Earned premium	25%	\$5,992.4 million
Sales	15%	\$735.9 million
Operating expense ratio	10%	17.08%
Service	10%	100% of plan items
Colonial Life:		•
Pre-tax operating income	40%	\$208.3 million
Sales	25%	\$346.5 million
Service	15%	100% of plan items
Earned premium	10%	\$908.3 million
Operating expense ratio	10%	16.83%
Unum UK:		
Pre-tax operating income	40%	£138.4 million
Service	20%	100% of plan items
Earned premium	15%	£493.5 million
Sales	15%	£68.3 million
Operating expense ratio	10%	17.59%

39

## What was the total annual incentive cash payment made to each named executive for 2007?

Based on our performance against the above targets, each named executive received the amounts shown in the table below. These amounts can also be found in column (g) of the Summary Compensation Table on page 50.

#### 2007 Annual Incentive (1)

	Annual Incentive Target	Ar	nnual Incentive	20	007 Annual	
Executive	(% of Salary)		Target (\$)	Ince	entive Paid (\$)	As a % of Target
Mr. Watjen (2)	150%	\$	1,575,000	\$	2,000,000	127%
Mr. Greving	65%		253,500		380,103	150%
Mr. McCarthy	80%		420,000		502,660	120%
Mr. Best	70%		336,000		407,970	121%
Mr. Horn	65%		286,000		366,730	128%

- (1) Total compensation paid for 2007 performance is outlined in the table on page 44.
- (2) Although the actual results were higher, Mr. Watjen s payment was capped at \$2,000,000, the maximum individual award allowed under the Management Incentive Compensation Plan of 2004.

#### **Long-Term Incentive Awards**

## What form of long-term incentives does Unum provide its executives?

Prior to February 2008, our primary form of long-term incentive was restricted stock awarded under the Amended and Restated Stock Plan of 1999 based on performance over a one-year period. Once granted, the performance-based shares of restricted stock vest over three years.

During 2007, the Human Capital Committee felt it was appropriate to reassess the long-term incentive program to ensure alignment with stockholder interests and peer practices. The Committee s review found that all of our proxy peer group use options in their long-term incentive programs, mostly in combination with restricted stock units (defined below) or similar plans. When the Committee considered this prevalent market practice and the positive stockholder views of companies who compensate executives for an increase in stock price over the long term, it reconfigured the long-term incentive program so that 75% of the award is granted as restricted stock units and 25% is granted as stock options. This change is effective with the February 2008 grant for a number of senior officers, including Messrs. McCarthy, Best and Horn. For Mr. Watjen, the mix of 75% restricted stock units and 25% stock options went into effect with his February 2007 grant.

We believe one-year performance goals, coupled with a long-term-vesting equity component, are significant drivers of long-term growth. At the same time, the retention of key executives is an important corporate objective. For this reason, while we utilize one-year performance goals to establish the awards, the awards vest over a three-year period.

#### What are restricted stock units?

Restricted stock units, granted on the basis of the performance of the Company and the individual, are valued in terms of Company stock but no actual stock is issued at the time of grant. Instead, Company stock is only issued when the grant actually vests. These differ from restricted stock in two ways: dividends are not paid in the form of cash on a quarterly basis but rather are deemed to be reinvested in additional restricted stock units; and there are no stockholder voting rights until the award actually vests. We believe this form of long-term compensation is closely aligned with stockholder interests.

## How did the Human Capital Committee determine the number of restricted stock units?

The Committee first measures the performance against the targets set for the Company and the individual to arrive at a cash award amount. The cash amount is then divided by the closing price of the stock on the grant date to determine the number of restricted stock units.

#### What are the performance measures for long-term incentive awards granted in 2007?

Each year at its February meeting, the Committee establishes corporate performance measures for the long-term incentive award program. Much like the annual incentive plan, each factor is then weighted based on its relative importance to the Company or business unit as well as on its potential impact on stockholder returns.

The table below shows the long-term incentive performance targets for 2006 (for grants in 2007):

#### **Long-Term Incentive Performance Measures and Weighting**

(2006 Performance Goals)

Performance Measure Unum Group	Component Weighting	Target
Pre-tax Operating Income (1) Unum Group	40%	\$930.6 million
Return on Equity Unum Group	40%	9.20%
Revenue (2)	20%	\$10,516.9 million

<sup>(1)</sup> Pre-tax Operating Income excludes realized investment gains and losses.

## (2) Revenue excludes realized investment gains and losses.

## How are individual long-term incentive award grants determined?

At its February meeting, the Human Capital Committee sets individual target levels for each named executive. These targets are communicated to the named executives as a dollar amount based on a percentage of base salary, generally in March of each year (see table below for awards granted in February 2007.)

After the end of each year, the Committee assesses our performance and compares the actual results to the targets established for each performance measure. In February 2007, based on 2006 performance, the Committee approved the following grants of restricted stock (and options in the case of Mr. Watjen) as outlined in the following table:

#### 2007 Long-Term Incentive

Executive	Long-Term Incentive Target	Long-Term Incentive Target (\$)	2006 Long- Term Incentive Paid <sup>(1)</sup> (\$)	As a % of Target	Shares of Restricted Stock Granted	Stock Options Granted
			Paid(1)(\$)		Granted	

Edgar Filing: Unum Group - Form DEF 14A

	(% of Salary)					
Mr. Watjen	350%	\$ 3,500,000	\$4,280,000	120%	155,904	166,100
Mr. Greving	90%	342,000	444,600	130%	20,507	
Mr. McCarthy	90%	396,000	592,020	150%	27,307	
Mr. Best	90%	396,000	592,000	150%	27,307	
Mr. Horn	90%	360,000	538,200	150%	24,825	

<sup>(1)</sup> The 2006 Long-Term Incentive was paid in March 2007.

What are the performance measures for long-term incentive grants based on 2007 performance and made in 2008?

The table below shows Unum s long-term incentive performance targets for 2007.

## **Long-Term Incentive Performance Measures and Weighting**

(2007 Performance Goals)

Performance Measure  Unum Group	Component Weighting	Target (100% Payout)
Pre-tax Operating Income (1) Unum Group	40%	\$1,009.3 million
Return on Equity Unum Group	40%	9.40%
Revenue (2)	20%	\$10,480.6 million

- (1) Pre-tax Operating Income excludes realized investment gains and losses.
- (2) Revenue excludes realized investment gains and losses.

In February 2008, based on our performance in 2007 against the above factors, the Human Capital Committee approved the following awards:

## 2008 Long-Term Incentive (1)

Executive	Long-Term Incentive Target (% of Salary)	Long-Term Incentive Target (\$)	2007 Long- Term Incentive Paid (\$)	As a % of Target	Shares of Restricted Stock Granted (Feb. 2008)	Stock Options Granted (Feb. 2008)
Mr. Watjen	350%	\$ 3,675,000	\$7,222,500(2)	197%	180,787	331,519
Mr. Greving	90%	351,000	573,885	164%	24,174	n/a
Mr. McCarthy	125%	656,250	$1,272,969_{(3)}$	194%	33,898	52,969
Mr. Best	100%	480,000	884,800(4)	184%	24,794	33,507
Mr. Horn	90%	396,000	747,460(5)	189%	20,455	29,623

- (1) Total compensation paid for 2007 performance is outlined in the table on page 44.
- (2) The 2007 Long Term Incentive Paid includes an additional award granted in 2008 in recognition of Mr. Watjen s individual contributions during 2007. Mr. Watjen received \$1,500,000 in stock options in recognition of his work in the turnaround of the Company, improved rating agency ratings, leading the Company through the RSA/CSA process, and strategic initiatives such as Simply Unum which prepare the Company for the future. Mr. Watjen s remaining Long-Term Incentive was paid in the form of 75% restricted stock units and 25% stock options.
- (3) The 2007 Long Term Incentive Paid includes an additional award granted in 2008 in recognition of Mr. McCarthy s individual contributions during 2007. Mr. McCarthy received \$200,000 in stock options in recognition of his achievements in leading the Unum US organization, the completion of the RSA/CSA process, and his progress in defining the strategic direction of Unum US. Mr. McCarthy s remaining Long-Term Incentive was paid in the form of 75% restricted stock units and 25% stock options.

## Edgar Filing: Unum Group - Form DEF 14A

- (4) The 2007 Long Term Incentive Paid includes an additional award granted in 2008 in recognition of Mr. Best s individual contributions during 2007. Mr. Best received \$100,000 in stock options in recognition of his contributions to the Simply Unum offering and development of continuous improvement programs across Unum US, Colonial and Unum UK. Mr. Best s remaining Long-Term Incentive was paid in the form of 75% restricted stock units and 25% stock options.
- (5) The 2007 Long Term Incentive Paid includes an additional award granted in 2008 in recognition of Mr. Horn s individual contributions during 2007. Mr. Horn received \$100,000 in stock options in recognition of his achievements in positioning the business for the long-term, including enhancing the distribution capabilities at Colonial, expansion of the enrollment capabilities and re-branding to better position Colonial in the market. Mr. Horn s remaining Long-Term Incentive was paid in the form of 75% restricted stock units and 25% stock options.

42

### Retirement and Workplace Benefits

### What employee benefits does Unum provide its executives and other employees?

We provide a benefits package for employees and their dependents, portions of which are paid by the employee. Benefits include: life, health, dental, vision, and disability insurance; pension; 401(k); dependent and healthcare reimbursement accounts; tuition reimbursement; an employee stock purchase plan; paid time off; holidays; and a matching gifts program for charitable contributions. Named executives have the same benefits package as other employees.

## What type of retirement plans does Unum offer?

We sponsor a tax-qualified, defined benefit pension plan. We also provide a non-qualified pension plan for employees whose benefits under the tax-qualified plans are limited by the Internal Revenue Code. Base pay and regular annual incentive awards are counted toward the defined benefit pension plans, although long-term incentives are not.

Mr. Watjen also has a supplemental retirement plan under the terms of his employment agreement. For a complete description of pension benefits for the named executives, please see the Pension Benefits section beginning on page 57.

## Perquisites and Other Personal Benefits

#### What perquisites does Unum offer its executives?

As stated earlier, Mr. Watjen voluntarily gave up most of his perquisites effective January 1, 2007. In light of recent market trends and how perquisites are potentially viewed by stockholders, the Human Capital Committee asked Towers Perrin in 2007 to review the perquisites provided to other named executives. Those perquisites included: financial counseling and tax preparation (senior vice presidents and above); club memberships for business entertainment; an executive health program (executive vice presidents and above); legal fees (CEO); personal use of corporate aircraft (CEO); and tax gross-up for perquisites (all executives).

Although these perquisites were reasonable and consistent with the our overall compensation program and were not a significant part of executives total pay packages, based on the Towers Perrin review and the factors mentioned above, our management proposed several changes to the perquisite program, all of which were adopted at the Committee s August 2007 meeting and became effective January 1, 2008.

#### What changes were made to executive perquisites?

Three changes were made to the perquisites offered to named executives.

First, the financial counseling and tax preparation, club membership, executive health program and legal fees perquisites were eliminated and replaced with a salary increase of equivalent value. (Mr. Watjen did not utilize the club membership or executive health program and had voluntarily given up financial counseling services effective January 1, 2007.) In place of the eliminated perquisites, effective January 1, 2008, Mr. Watjen received a salary increase of equivalent value of \$19,400 and the other named executives each received \$12,400. Because this amount is salary, we place no requirements or restrictions on its use.

*Second*, tax gross-ups related to all perquisites listed above were eliminated, including for personal aircraft travel. Mr. Watjen volunteered to relinquish the tax gross-up payment related to personal aircraft usage effective January 1, 2008. He volunteered to forego all other perquisite-related tax gross-ups on January 1, 2007.

Tax gross-ups related to non-resident state taxes and attendance at Company business functions for the executive (and spouse or guest) were continued since these events are related to conducting Company business.

Third, an aircraft time-sharing agreement for personal use of Company-owned aircraft was reached with Mr. Watjen. The Committee has encouraged Mr. Watjen to use Company-owned aircraft for both business and personal travel because it is a more efficient use of his time. Under Mr. Watjen is employment agreement, he is allowed 40 hours of personal use of Company aircraft per year. Under the Time-Sharing arrangement Mr. Watjen will reimburse the costs incurred by Unum for personal use beyond the 40 hours at the maximum rate allowed by Federal Aviation Administration regulations. This rate includes the variable costs associated with these flights (i.e. fuel, trip-related maintenance, crew travel expenses, hangar and tie-down costs, and landing fees). During 2007 Mr. Watjen reimbursed the Company \$31,748 under the Time-Sharing arrangement.

A detailed table of executive perquisites, including the aircraft timeshare arrangement described above, is included as a footnote to the Summary Compensation Table.

#### **Total Compensation**

### What is the total compensation earned for 2007 by each named executive?

The Summary Compensation Table on page 50 provides an overview of executive compensation as required by the Securities and Exchange Commission. However, because the Summary Compensation Table takes into consideration items such as the actuarial increase of the present value of pension benefits and the accounting cost of equity grants (versus their fair value at grant), we have included below a supplemental table that provides an overview of executive pay as the Human Capital Committee considers it when making compensation decisions. *Please note that the following table is not a substitute for the required Summary Compensation Table.* 

#### 2007 Compensation<sup>(1)</sup>

		Annual	Long-Term	All Other	
Executive	Salary	Incentive(1)	Incentive(2)	Compensation(3)	Total
Mr. Watjen	\$ 1,041,667	\$ 2,000,000	\$7,222,500	\$ 119,997	\$ 10,384,164
Mr. Greving	388,333	380,103	573,885	36,608	1,378,929
Mr. McCarthy	510,833	502,660	1,272,969	60,867	2,347,329
Mr. Best	473,333	407,970	884,800	50,223	1,816,326
Mr. Horn	433,333	366,730	747,460	50,679	1,598,202

- (1) These amounts reflect annual incentive awards granted in 2008 based on 2007 performance. These are discussed in further detail beginning on page 37 under the heading Annual Incentive.
- (2) These amounts reflect actual LTI awards granted in 2008 based on 2007 performance. This award includes the value of the stock options granted in February 2008 in recognition of the individual performances of Messrs. Watjen, McCarthy, Best and Horn. (Please refer to the 2008 Long-Term Incentive table and related footnotes on page 42 for additional details.) These amounts will be reported in the Grants of Plan-Based Awards table for the 2009 proxy statement. The value shown is the fair market value of this grant on the grant date.
- (3) These amounts are the actual amounts as reported in the All Other Compensation Table on page 52. Equity Performance Grant

## What is the rationale for creating an equity performance grant?

As stated earlier, in 2007 our Board of Directors approved a special grant of performance-based restricted stock units for approximately 50 key officers who, through their performance and leadership, can truly impact our ability to achieve our corporate objectives. The purpose of the one-time grant is to promote the continuity of the current leadership team, while at the same time better aligning this leadership group with corporate and stockholder objectives.

#### How does the plan work?

Generally speaking, participants receive restricted stock units that will vest based on performance between now and December 31, 2011, based on two factors: (1) We must first achieve thresholds for financial plan

performance, risk-based capital, assessments by rating agencies, and regulatory compliance (see Table 1 below); and (2) once these thresholds are achieved, vesting is based on a schedule of stock price appreciation. Full vesting of the grant will occur when Unum s stock price meets or exceeds \$50 per share (see Table 2 below).

The Human Capital Committee will review plan performance three times between now and the second quarter of 2012. For the period being evaluated, they will first determine if we meet the four thresholds described above. If so, the restricted stock units will vest according to the stock price appreciation schedule and will be paid to individuals in the form of shares of Unum stock.

**Table 1: Equity Performance Grant Thresholds** 

Goals	FY 2007-2009	FY 2008-2010	FY 2009-2011				
Financial:							
(1) Average annual growth in Operating EPS over FY 2006	9% or greater	9% or greater	9% or greater				
(2) Average annual consolidated NAIC risk-based capital ratio	300% or greater	300% or greater	300% or greater				
Non-Financial:							
(3) Completion of the RSA/CSA Reassessment process and follow-up examination resulting in no contingent additional fine by the states	Achieved	Achieved or sustained without re-visit of alleged claims practice issues	Achieved or sustained without re-visit of alleged claims practice issues				
(4) Financial strength rating for principle US insurance companies	Achieved	Achieved or	Achieved or				
one notch upgrade by at least 2 of the 4 national rating agencies		sustained	sustained				
Table 2: Equity Performance Grant Vesting							

Stock Price	Shares Earned	Stock Price	Shares Earned
\$50	100.0%	\$31	42.7%
\$45	96.0%	\$30	36.5%
\$40 \$35	84.1%	\$29	30.0%
\$35	64.3%	\$28	23.2%
\$34	59.4%	\$27	16.0%
\$33	54.1%	\$26	8.6%
\$32	48.6%	\$25	0.0%

How many restricted stock units were awarded to each named executive as Equity Performance Grants?

Mr. Watjen was awarded 300,000 units; Mr. Greving 60,000 units; Mr. McCarthy 120,000 units; Mr. Best 100,000 units; and Mr. Horn 100,000 units. This information can also be found in the Grants of Plan-Based Awards table on page 53.

## Elements of Pay (2008)

#### **Base Salaries**

## What base salary increases were awarded in 2008?

For 2008, the Human Capital Committee considered our performance in 2007 as well as Mr. Watjen s individual performance, responsibilities and tenure and, as a result, increased his base salary to \$1,100,000 effective March 1, 2008. For the remaining named executives, the Committee approved the following base salaries, also effective March 1, 2008: Mr. Greving \$420,000; Mr. McCarthy \$565,000; Mr. Best \$515,000; and Mr. Horn \$475,000.

#### **Annual Incentive Awards**

#### What are the performance measures for 2008?

The performance measures for Unum Group and its business units, as well as the weightings of each, remain unchanged for 2008. They are as follows:

#### **Annual Incentive Award Performance Measures (2008)**

Performance Measure	Unum Group	Unum US	Colonial Life	Unum UK
Pre-tax operating income	40%	40%	40%	40%
Return on equity	25%			
Revenue	25%			
Operating expenses	10%	10%	10%	10%
Earned premium		25%	10%	15%
Sales		15%	25%	15%
Service		10%	15%	20%
Long-Term Incentive Awards				

## What are the annual and long-term incentive targets for named executives in 2008?

The 2008 incentive targets are found in the following table:

## 2008 Compensation and Incentive Targets

		Annual	Long-Term
Executive	Salary <sup>(1)</sup>	Incentive Target <sup>(2)</sup>	Incentive Target <sup>(3)</sup>
Mr. Watjen	\$ 1,100,000	150%	400%
Mr. Greving	420,000	65%	90%
Mr. McCarthy	565,000	100%	150%
Mr. Best	515,000	90%	125%
Mr. Horn	475,000	80%	100%

<sup>(1)</sup> Base salaries for the named executives are effective March 1, 2008.

<sup>(2)</sup> The annual incentive target for Mr. McCarthy increased from 80% to 100%; Mr. Best increased from 70% to 90%; and Mr. Horn increased from 65% to 80%.

# Edgar Filing: Unum Group - Form DEF 14A

(3) The long-term incentive target for Mr. Watjen increased from 350% to 400%; Mr. McCarthy increased from 125% to 150%; Mr. Best increased from 100% to 125%; and Mr. Horn increased from 90% to 100%.

46

## **Policies and Practices**

#### **Equity Grant Practices**

## How does Unum set the dates for equity grants?

Equity grants are approved at a regularly scheduled meeting of the Human Capital Committee, and the date of this meeting is typically set a year in advance. The date the equity grant is approved is considered the grant date, and as a result it is also the date upon which the stock price is based

For new hires at the Senior Vice President and above level, equity grants are approved by the Committee in advance and are effective on the hire date or are approved and dated at the next Committee meeting. For other employees, the CEO is authorized to make equity grants collectively totaling up to \$300,000 per year, and the grants are reported to the Committee annually. Mr. Watjen made grants totaling \$176,600 in 2007.

Prior to 2007, Mr. Watjen was authorized to make equity grants of up to \$100,000 total per year. The Committee increased Mr. Watjen s authority during the year to give him more flexibility in independently rewarding employees performance.

#### Stock Ownership, Retention and Sale

#### What are Unum s policies regarding the retention of stock by its executives?

In order to further align the long-term interests of management and stockholders and to promote a culture of ownership, we believe our senior executives should have a significant ownership stake in the Company. With this in mind, certain senior executives are required to retain a fixed percentage of the net shares received for a specified period of time (see table below). Both the percentage and time period are determined by the individual s position with the Company. Exceptions to this requirement may only be made by the Board of Directors.

#### Were any changes made in 2007 to the retention guidelines?

At its August 2007 meeting, the Human Capital Committee compared our retention guidelines with peer companies. In light of this review and the creation of the new Equity Performance Grant described above, the Committee modified the stock retention ratios to more closely align them with competitive market practices. At the same time, the Committee added ownership guidelines to encourage significant stock ownership.

Below is a table that shows, by position, the new stock ownership guidelines as a multiple of salary as well as the retention guidelines for percentage of stock and time required to be held. Common and restricted shares count toward ownership, but Equity Performance Grants and stock options do not. Newly-promoted or newly-hired executives have five years to achieve the guideline, while current executives have three. Our management provides a report annually to the Committee that shows how each named executive s ownership compares to the guidelines. Not meeting the guidelines could have an impact on the size of future equity grants. All of our named executives presently meet the new guidelines.

## **Retention and Ownership Requirements**

	Retention Requirements		Ownership Guidelines
Executive Level	Retention % <sup>(1)</sup>	Holding Period(2)	Ownership as % of Salary
CEO	75%	3 years	5x
EVP	60%	1 year	3x
SVP	50%	1 year	1x

<sup>(1)</sup> Retention percentage is the net percentage of shares to be held after the payment of taxes.

<sup>(2)</sup> After this holding period, the executive would then be able to sell the shares as long as their ownership guideline is met or would be reached in the time period allotted.

47

## Are there policies in place that prohibit the sale of stock by executives?

We have established a policy that no executive officer or director (or any member of the individual s family sharing the household) may purchase or sell options, puts, calls, straddles, equity swaps or other derivatives that are directly linked to Unum s common stock. In addition, these individuals may not engage in transactions involving short sales of Unum stock or in any hedging transactions on Unum stock.

#### Are there any other restrictions in place?

Our current policy imposes limits on the timing and types of transactions in Unum stock permitted by named executives and certain other officers. Among other restrictions, the policy allows officers to trade Unum common stock only during pre-determined window periods (following earnings releases) and only after they have pre-cleared transactions with our General Counsel or Corporate Secretary.

### What is the total amount of Unum stock owned by each named executive?

Each individual s stock ownership is included in the following table:

### **Stock Ownership**

(as of December 31, 2007)

Executive	Common Stock <sup>(1)</sup>	Unvested Restricted Stock <sup>(2)</sup>	Total Current Ownership	Current Ownership as Multiple of Salary
Mr. Watjen	\$ 11,956,925	\$ 5,691,448	\$ 17,648,373	17x
Mr. Greving	724,382	862,245	1,586,627	4x
Mr. McCarthy	845,520	986,500	1,832,020	3x
Mr. Best	2,136,580	1,008,958	3,145,538	7x
Mr. Horn	359,681	927,453	1,287,134	3x

<sup>(1)</sup> Amount includes shares held in certificate form, brokerage accounts and the 401(k) account. Shares were valued using a closing stock price of \$23.79 on 12/31/07.

## Tax and Accounting Considerations

## Is executive compensation a deductible expense?

Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code places a limit of \$1,000,000 on the amount of compensation paid to the CEO and the other named executives that can be deducted by us as a business expense in any year, unless the compensation is performance-based and has been approved by stockholders. We have designed elements of our executive compensation program, including the annual incentives under the Executive Officer Incentive section of the Management Incentive Compensation Plan of 2004 and the long-term incentive awards under the Stock Incentive Plan of 2007, intending them to be fully deductible for federal income tax purposes. While the Human Capital Committee takes into account the deductibility of executive compensation, it reserves the right to pay executives in a manner consistent with their performance and the competitive market, even though the deductibility requirements may not be satisfied.

Since Mr. Watjen s 2007 base salary exceeded deductibility limits by \$50,000, that amount is not deductible under Section 162(m) of the IRS Code. However, the entire base salary of all other named executives is fully deductible. Additionally, we will deduct the amounts paid under the annual and long-term programs for 2007 performance. We will also take a deduction for the additional stock options granted to Messrs. Watjen, McCarthy, Best and Horn. There are some additional amounts which were not deductible in 2007 related to the vesting of prior years restricted stock grants. However, the Committee took steps in 2007 which are intended to have future grants be deductible under 162(m).

<sup>(2)</sup> Shares were valued using a closing stock price of \$23.79 on 12/31/07. These shares will vest over the next three years (see Vesting Schedule for Unvested Restricted Shares table on page 56 for vesting schedule).

48

## What assumptions does Unum make in accounting for stock awards?

On January 1, 2006, we began accounting for stock-based payments under the requirements of SFAS 123(R). A complete discussion of the assumptions made as well as the financial impact of this type of compensation can be found in Notes 1 and 2 of the Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II, Item 8 of our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007. Additionally, the footnotes to the Summary Compensation Table and the Grants of Plan Based Awards Table detail the assumptions for awards listed in those tables. Implementation of SFAS 123(R) has not impacted the design of our compensation programs.

### Has Unum made changes to comply with new Nonqualified Deferred Compensation regulations?

Yes, in 2007 we worked with external legal advisors to identify necessary amendments to existing compensation and benefit plans in order to comply with Internal Revenue Code Section 409A. We believe we are in compliance with these statutory provisions.

49

## **Summary Compensation Table**

Name and		Salary	Bonus	Stock Awards	Option Awards	Non-Equ Incenti Plan Compens	ve	Non E Con	hange in Pension Value and n-qualified Deferred npensation Carnings	All C		Total
Principal Position (a)	Year (b)	(\$) (c)	( <b>\$</b> ) (d)	( <b>\$</b> ) ( <i>e</i> )	( <b>\$</b> ) ( <i>f</i> )	(\$) (g)			( <b>\$</b> ) ( <i>h</i> )	(\$ (1	S) :)	(\$) (j)
Thomas R. Watjen,	2007	\$ 1,041,667		\$ 2,658,543(1)	\$ 522,201(2)	\$ 2,000	,000(3)	\$	1,001,000(4)	\$ 1	19,997	\$ 7,343,408
President and												
Chief Executive												
Officer, and												
a Director Robert C. Greving,	2006 2007	991,667 388,333		1,414,551 403,972 <sub>(1)</sub>		1,562 380	,500 ,103 <sub>(3)</sub>		586,000 92,000 <sub>(4)</sub>		40,987 36,608	4,695,705 1,301,016
Executive Vice												
President, Chief												
Financial												
Officer and												
Chief Actuary	2006	380,002		261,870			,031		97,000		29,848	1,031,751
Kevin P. McCarthy,	2007	510,833		529,687(1)		502	,660(3)		308,288(4)	(	50,867	1,912,335
Executive Vice												
President,												
President and												
Chief Executive												
Officer, Unum US	2006	429,167		272,296			,187		281,000		39,009	1,400,659
Robert O. Best,	2007	473,333		559,383(1)		407	,970(3)		140,000(4)	:	50,223	1,630,909
Executive Vice												
President, Chief												
Operating Officer,												
Unum US Randall C. Horn,	2006 2007	433,333 433,333		290,361 480,496 <sup>(1)</sup>			,798 ,730 <sup>(3)</sup>		156,000 63,000 <sup>(4)</sup>		49,326 50,679	1,284,818 1,394,238

# Edgar Filing: Unum Group - Form DEF 14A

Executive	
Vice President,	
President and	
Chief Executive	
Officer, Colonial	

(1) The amounts in this column reflect the dollar amount recognized for financial statement reporting for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007, in accordance with SFAS No. 123(R) of awards pursuant to the Amended and Restated Stock Plan of 1999. The following table provides the expense by grant for each of the named executives. Additionally, the assumptions made in the valuation of these awards is included in footnotes (8) and (9) to the Grants of Plan Based Awards table on page 53.

50

Footnote (1) continued:

				20	007 SFAS
	Date of	No. of	No. of		123(R)
Executive	Grant	Shares	Options	E	xpense (\$)
Mr. Watjen	9/11/07	300,000		\$	472,544
	2/23/07	155,904			1,239,333
	2/24/06	125,000			873,958
	2/18/05	50,000			72,708
				\$ 2	2,658,543
Mr. Greving	9/11/07	60,000		\$	94,509
	2/23/07	25,507			125,721
	2/24/06	17,610			123,123
	4/17/06	5,996			38,334
	2/18/05	15,325			22,285
				\$	403,972
Mr. McCarthy	9/11/07	120,000		\$	189,018
	2/23/07	27,307			167,409
	2/24/06	21,240			148,503
	2/18/05	17,025			24,757
				\$	529,687

				20	007 SFAS
	Date of	No. of	No. of		123(R)
Executive	Grant	Shares	Options	E	xpense (\$)
Mr. Best	9/11/07	100,000		\$	157,515
	2/23/07	27,307			217,072
	2/24/06	22,656			158,403
	2/18/05	18,150			26,393
				\$	559,383
Mr. Horn	9/11/07	100,000		\$	157,515
	2/23/07	24,825			152,193
	2/24/06	21,240			148,503
	2/18/05	15,325			22,285
				\$	480,496

- (2) The amount in this column reflects the amount recognized for financial statement reporting for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007, in accordance with SFAS No. 123(R) of the stock option award of 166,100 options granted to Mr. Watjen on February 23, 2007. Additionally, the assumptions made in the valuation of this award are included in footnote (7) to the Grants of Plan Based Awards Table on page 53.
- (3) These amounts reflect the annual incentive awards to the named executives. These are discussed in further detail beginning on page 37 under the heading Annual Incentive.
- (4) The amounts shown reflect the actuarial increase in the present value since December 31, 2006 of the named executive s benefits under all pension plans established by the Company. The amounts were determined using interest rate and mortality rate assumptions consistent with those used in the Company s financial statements (see Note 10 of our Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II, Item 8 of our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007, for these assumptions) and include amounts which the named executive may not currently be entitled to receive because such amounts are not vested. The amount reported for Mr. McCarthy also includes the amount of above-market interest that exceeds 120% of the rate prescribed under section 1274(d) of the Internal Revenue Code.
- (5) All Other Compensation amounts are included in the following table:

51

Footnote (5) continued:

## 2007 All Other Compensation

		Mr.	Mr.		
	Mr. Watjen	Greving	McCarthy	Mr. Best	Mr. Horn
Tax Reimbursement Payments (a)	\$ 8,207	\$ 8,714	\$ 16,238	\$ 12,459	\$ 19,814
Financial Counseling (b)		6,300	9,300	6,610	1,015
Club Memberships (c)		6,763	1,905	7,376	1,389
Executive Health Program (d)		1,834			
Personal Use of Company Aircraft (e)	63,312				
Employee and Spouse/Guest					
Attendance at Company Business					
Functions (f)	3,178	52	4,990	4,441	23,383
<b>Total Perquisites</b>	74,697	23,663	32,433	30,886	45,601
Premium on term life insurance					
provided by us	78	78	78	78	78
Matching Gifts Program (g)		1,050	7,500	1,250	5,000
Matching contributions under our					
401(k) retirement plan	8,406	8,956	9,000	8,992	
Non-resident State Taxes (h)	36,816	2,862	11,856	9,017	
Total All Other Compensation	\$ 119,997	\$ 36,609	\$ 60,867	\$ 50,223	\$ 50,679

- (a) The amounts shown in this row represent tax payments made by Unum on behalf of each named executive relating to other items in this table.
- (b) Financial Counseling represents fees paid on behalf of the executive for financial planning and tax services. Unum provided gross up payments to cover taxes which are included under the Tax Reimbursement Payments. This perquisite was discontinued for 2008.
- (c) Club memberships were held in 2007 by those who had a need to entertain customers or vendors as part of their role. Unum provided gross up payments to cover taxes which are included under Tax Reimbursement Payments. This perquisite was discontinued in 2008.
- (d) The Executive Health Program was available to the named executives during 2007. This perquisite was discontinued for 2008.
- (e) Mr. Watjen s Employment Agreement with the Company provides for a maximum 40 hours of personal use of the Company aircraft. For purposes of compensation disclosure, the personal use of the Company aircraft is valued using an incremental cost that takes into account fuel costs, landing fees, parking, weather monitoring, maintenance fees and on-board catering per hour of flight. Crew travel expenses are included based on the actual amount incurred for a particular trip. Fixed costs that do not change based on usage, such as pilot salaries and depreciation of the aircraft, are excluded.
- (f) These expenses are related to the named executive s attendance at Company business functions. If gross up payments were calculated on these expenses, it has been included under Tax Reimbursement Payments. These amounts also include travel expenses related to Messrs. Watjen s, McCarthy s and Best s spouses or guests attending certain business functions where spousal/guest attendance was expected. Mr. Horn s travel expenses are related to his attending certain business functions such as the annual sales recognition conference. Mr. Horn is required to attend the conference to

host and conduct the meetings. Some of these trips included travel on the corporate aircraft. When the aircraft was used, we have computed the amounts using the incremental cost valuation described above under Personal Use of Company Aircraft (footnote e.)

- (g) Amounts represent matching gifts made on behalf of the named executive to qualified non-profit organizations and educational institutions. The Matching Gifts Program is available to all full-time employees and non-employee directors and will match eligible gifts from a minimum of \$50 to an aggregate maximum gift of \$7,500 per employee/non-employee director, per calendar year.
- (h) Many of our employees are required to travel to other Company locations outside of their primary state of employment. While working in a state other than their primary state of employment, employees may be required to pay state income taxes to that state if days worked or earnings exceed an amount specified in state law. When this happens, we pay the state income tax on behalf of the employee and gross up the income amount for FICA and Medicare taxes. Given that the primary purpose for the employee working in another state is for the benefit of the Company, we do not believe that they should have to bear the cost of the taxes.

52

#### **Grants of Plan-Based Awards**

		Under 1	ated Future Non-Equity Plan Award	Incentive	Unde		re Payouts Incentive rds <sup>(2)</sup>	All Other Stock Awards	All Other Option Awards		Grant	Grant
	Grant	Thres- hold	Target	Maximum	Thres- hold	Target	Maximum		Number of Securities Under- Lying Options	Exercise or Base Price of Option Awards	Date Closing Market Price of Option Awards	Date FMV of Stock and Option Awards
Name (a)	Date (b)	(\$) (c)	(\$) (d)	(\$) (e)	(#) (f)	(#) (g)	(#) (h)	(#) (i)	(#) (j)	(\$/Sh) (k)	(\$) (l)	(\$) (m)
Mr. Watjen	2/23/07 2/23/07 9/11/07	393,750	1,575,000	3,150,000	W/	150,000	300,000	155,904(3)	166,100(4)	21.68(5)	21.71(6)	
Mr. Greving	2/23/07 9/11/07	63,375	253,500	507,000		30,000	60,000	20,507(3)				444,592 <sub>(8)</sub> 959,400 <sub>(9)</sub>
Mr. McCarthy	2/23/07 9/11/07	105,000	420,000	840,000		60,000	120,000	27,307(3)				592,016 <sub>(8)</sub> 1,918,800 <sub>(9)</sub>
Mr. Best	2/23/07 9/11/07	84,000	336,000	672,000		50,000	100,000	27,307(3)				592,016 <sub>(8)</sub> 1,599,000 <sub>(9)</sub>
Mr. Horn	2/23/07 9/11/07	71,500	286,000	572,000		50,000	100,000	24,825(3)				538,206 <sub>(8)</sub> 1,599,000 <sub>(9)</sub>

- (1) This amount reflects the minimum level under the annual incentive plan which is 25% of the target amount shown in the Target column (column d). The maximum (shown in column e) is 200% of such target. The target amounts are based on the individual s earnings for 2007 and their annual incentive target.
- (2) The 2007 Equity Performance Grant was granted under the Stock Incentive Plan of 2007. The amount shown in column (g) of the table has been calculated using the maximum amount available for payout under the plan multiplied by 50%. The amount shown in column (h) is the maximum amount that will be paid out under this plan based on the achievement of pre-established financial goals and share price achieved (see Tables 1 and 2 on page 45) as described in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis section on page 31. This maximum amount payable under the plan does not include shares accrued as a result of dividends earned on these shares.
- (3) This grant of restricted stock was made on February 23, 2007 based on 2006 financial and individual performance and vests ratably over three years. This award was granted under the Stock Plan of 1999 which was terminated on May 18, 2007.
- (4) These options were granted to Mr. Watjen on February 23, 2007 based on 2006 financial and individual performance and vest over three years.
- (5) This is the grant price of the 166,100 options granted to Mr. Watjen on February 23, 2007 based on the average of the high and low price on this date.
- (6) The amount shown is the closing market price for February 23, 2007.

(7) The grant date fair value of options granted to Mr. Watjen on February 23, 2007 was \$8.61. The fair value on the date of grant was estimated using the Black-Scholes valuation model. The following assumptions were used to value the 2007 grant:

Expected volatility of 44 percent, based on our historical daily stock prices.

Expected life of 5.0 years, based on the simplified method allowed under supplemental application guidance issued by the SEC in Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107, Share-Based Payment.

Expected dividend yield of 1.57 percent, based on the dividend rate at the date of grant.

Risk-free interest rate of 4.67 percent, based on the yield of treasury bonds at the date of grant.

(8) The grant date fair value of stock awards for restricted stock (column i) was calculated as the number of shares multiplied by the average of the high and low stock price on the grant date.

53

## **Table of Contents**

(9) The grant date fair value of the Equity Performance Grant (column h) was \$15.99. Vesting for this grant is contingent upon meeting various company threshold performance and stock price conditions. Dividend equivalents on these performance restricted stock units are accrued in the form of additional restricted stock units. The PRSU expense assumes the performance goals are attained at 100 percent. Actual performance may result in zero to 100 percent of the units ultimately being earned. We used the accelerated method of amortization for recognizing compensation expense, which treats each of the three vesting tranches as a separate award over the expected life of the unit. Based on the Monte-Carlo model, the following assumptions were used to value the 2007 grant:

Expected volatility of 29 percent, based on our historical daily stock prices.

Expected life of 4.4 years, which equals the maximum term.

Expected dividend yield of 1.24 percent, based on the dividend rate at the date of grant.

Risk-free interest rate of 3.97 percent, based on the yield of treasury bonds at the date of grant.

54

## **Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End**

		Opt	ion Awards					Stock Awards	Equity
Name	Number of Securities Underlying Unexercised Options (#)	Number of Securities Underlying Unexercised Options (#)	Equity Incentive Plan Awards Number of Securities Underlying Unexercised Unearned	Option Exercise Price (\$)	Option Expiration Date	Number of Shares or Units of Stock that have not Vested (\$)	Market Value of Shares or Units of Stock that have not	Equity Incentive Plan Awards: Number of Unearned Shares, Units or Other Rights that have not Vested (#)	Incentive Plan Awards: Market or Payout  Value of Unearned Shares, Units  or Other Rights that have not Vested (\$)
	Exercisable	Unexercisable	Options (#)				Vested (\$)		(1)(2)
(a) Mr. Watjen	(b) 170,000	(c)	(d)	(e) \$ 55.1799	(f) 6/30/09	(g) \$ 239,237	(h) <sup>(1)</sup> \$ 5,691,448	$(i)^{(3)}$	$(j)^{(3)}$
Mr. waijen	68,000			13.7188	2/25/10	\$ 239,231	\$ 3,091,446		
	250,000			27.9750	2/8/11				
	27,567			32.8450	2/25/10				
	275,000			28.9000	2/15/10				
	31,769			28.5000	2/25/10				
	200,000			14.8600	12/12/11				
	200,000			18.0000	12/12/11				
	200,000			21.0000	12/12/11				
	,	166,100(2)		21.6800	2/23/15				
Mr. Greving	25,000			28.9000	2/15/10	36,244	862,245		
	25,000			27.9750	2/8/11				
	18,130			13.7188	2/25/10				
	3,650			44.6062	2/12/09				
	3,650			51.5411	1/6/08				
Mr. McCarthy	8,000			52.5938	3/13/08	41,467	986,500		
	13,550			45.3438	2/16/09				
	15,000			27.9750	2/8/11				
	20,000			28.9000	2/15/10				
Mr. Best	10,000			29.5000	9/30/09	42,411	1,008,958		
	23,590			13.7188	2/25/10				
	30,000			27.9750	2/8/11				
	32,000			28.9000	2/15/10				
Mr. Horn						38,985	927,453		

- (1) This is the aggregate value of restricted stock shown in column (g) based on the closing price on December 31, 2007 of \$23.79.
- (2) Mr. Watjen s grant was made on February 23, 2007 under the Stock Plan of 1999 and vests ratably over three years.
- (3) The amounts reported for the Equity Performance Grant made on September 11, 2007 are zero based on the year-end stock price. This grant does not begin to vest until the stock price reaches and maintains a minimum of \$26 per share for twenty consecutive trading days. Therefore, since the Company s price had not reached this level prior to December 31, 2007, the threshold performance level was not met and there are no unearned units or value to report. This grant and the performance criteria are discussed in detail beginning on page 44 under the heading Equity Performance Grant.

## **Vesting Schedule for Unvested Restricted Shares**

	Number of Restricted Shares Vesting									
Vesting Date	Mr. Watjen	Mr. Greving	Mr. McCarthy	Mr. Best	Mr. Horn					
February 23, 2008 <sup>(1)</sup>	51,968	6,835	9,102	9,102	8,275					
February 24, 2008 <sup>(2)</sup>	41,667	5,870	7,080	7,552	7,080					
April 17, 2008 (3)		1,999								
February 23, 2009 <sup>(1)</sup>	51,968	6,836	9,102	9,102	8,275					
February 24, 2009 (2)	41,666	5,870	7,080	7,552	7,080					
April 17, 2009 (3)		1,998								
February 23, 2010 <sup>(1)</sup>	51,968	6,836	9,103	9,103	8,275					
Total	239,237	36,244	41,467	42,411	38,985					

- (1) The February 23 vesting dates relate to restricted stock granted on February 23, 2006 from the Stock Plan of 1999.
- (2) The February 24 vesting dates relate to restricted stock granted on February 24, 2006 from the Stock Plan of 1999.
- (3) The April 17 vesting dates relate to restricted stock granted on April 17, 2006 from the Stock Plan of 1999.

## **Option Exercises and Stock Vested**

	Option Aw		Stock Award	Stock Awards			
Name	Number of Shares Acquired on Exercise	Value Realized on Exercise (\$)	Number of Shares Acquired on Vesting <sup>(1)</sup>	Value Realized on Vesting <sup>(2)</sup> (\$)			
(a)	(b)	(c)	(d)	(e)			
Mr. Watjen			141,278	\$ 3,173,195			
Mr. Greving			23,194	513,190			
Mr. McCarthy	14,170	\$ 188,195	24,105	527,065			
Mr. Best			25,702	561,983			
Mr. Horn			22,405	489,784			

- (1) Each named executive withheld a portion of these shares to cover their taxes due upon vesting.
- (2) Amount calculated as the number of shares acquired multiplied by the closing price per share on the vesting date.

## POST-EMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION

#### 2007 Pension Benefits

## Does Unum offer a defined benefit pension plan?

Yes, we maintain three defined benefit plans in the United States. The first is the Unum Group Pension Plan ( Qualified Plan ), which provides funded, tax-qualified benefits up to the limits on compensation and benefits under the Internal Revenue Code. The second is the Unum Group Supplemental Pension Plan ( Excess Plan ), which provides unfunded, non-qualified benefits for compensation that exceeds the IRS limits in the Qualified Plan. And the third is the Unum Group Senior Executive Retirement Plan ( SERP ), which provides unfunded, non-qualified benefits that are offset by benefits under the Qualified Plan and the Excess Plan. The Qualified Plan was designed to provide tax-qualified pension benefits for most employees. The SERP supplements the pension benefits that are provided under the Qualified and Excess Plans and was designed to provide competitive retirement benefits for Mr. Watjen.

## How are benefits determined under the plan?

Under the Qualified Plan, retirement benefits include a Basic Benefit based upon retirement age, years of Credited Service, Highest Average Earnings and Social Security Covered Compensation. Each of these terms are defined as follows:

Credited Service one year of Credited Service is granted for each plan year in which 1,000 hours of employment are completed. Highest Average Earnings The average of the highest 5 years of compensation (whether or not consecutive) during the last 10 years of employment.

Social Security Covered Compensation The average of the taxable wage bases in effect for each calendar year during the 35-year period ending with the last day of the calendar year in which an employee attains or will attain his or her Social Security retirement age

As an annual single life annuity, the Basic Benefit for participants is equal to:

A percentage of Highest Average Earnings (this can range from 3%, if the sum of an employee s age and years of Credited Service is less than 30, to 8% if the sum equals or exceeds 95), multiplied by years of Credited Service;

3.5% of Highest Average Earnings in excess of Social Security Covered Compensation, multiplied by years of Credited Service; all divided by

A conversion factor based on the individual s retirement commencement age (equal to 9.0 for retirement at age 65 and increased by 0.2 for each whole year retirement occurs prior to age 65).

All benefits are indexed on the first day of each plan year following the participant s date of termination using the National Average Wage rate of increase published by the Social Security Administration in the preceding year (minimum of 2.75% and maximum of 5.0%).

Benefits provided under the Qualified Plan are based on pensionable earnings (which are described below under What are the elements of compensation included in applying the payment and benefit formula? ) up to a compensation limit of \$225,000 under the Internal Revenue Code. In addition, benefits provided under the Qualified Plan may not exceed \$180,000 (payable as a single life annuity beginning at any age from 62 through Social Security Normal Retirement Age) under the Internal Revenue Code.

Mr. McCarthy accrues an additional benefit for his 21 years of service prior to 2000. Mr. Best was a member of the Colonial Pension Plan under which he has a deferred vested monthly single life annuity benefit of \$4,896 payable at age 66 and an additional 22 years of Vesting Service.

The Excess Plan provides a benefit that is equal to the benefit that would be provided under the Qualified Plan if the IRS compensation and benefit limits outlined above did not exist, minus the benefit actually provided under the Qualified Plan.

The benefit provided under the SERP is payable as an annuity beginning on the first day of the month following retirement. The SERP benefit for Mr. Watjen, expressed as an annual single life annuity, is equal to (1) 2.5% of Highest Average Earnings times years of service up to 20, minus (2) the annual single life annuity provided under the Qualified Plan and the Excess Plan beginning on benefit commencement. Mr. Watjen is presently the only named executive covered under the SERP benefit.

#### Are named executives eligible for pensions before normal retirement age?

Under the Qualified and Excess plans, participants may retire early at age 55 with five years of vesting service. However, pension benefits under those plans are reduced for commencement prior to normal retirement age (age 65 except for the Colonial portion of Mr. Best s benefit which is reduced from age 66).

Under the SERP, Mr. Watjen is eligible for an unreduced pension at age 60. If he terminates employment prior to age 60, the single life annuity will be reduced by 5% per year.

#### What are the elements of compensation included in applying the payment and benefit formula?

The elements of compensation included in applying the payment and benefit formula include base pay received in each plan year during which the employee accrues Credited Service, as well as payments received from the regular annual incentive plan and any field or sales compensation plan. These elements do not include other bonuses, long-term incentive awards, commissions, prize awards or allowances for incidentals.

Additional years of Credited Service are generally not granted to participants in any of the three plans. Other than service under prior plans, no extra years of service have been granted to the named executives. Their respective years of Credited Service are included in the Pension Benefits Table.

## Are lump sum distributions available under the plan?

Lump sum distributions are generally only available on very small amounts. Based on current benefit levels, the named executives benefits are only payable in the form of an annuity with monthly benefit payments. However, some benefits are available as lump sums under the SERP for Termination Without Cause, Resignation for Good Reason or Change-in-Control for Mr. Watjen.

58

#### **Pension Benefits**

Name	Plan Name	Number of Years of Credited Service (#)	Present Value of Accumulated Benefits (\$) <sup>(1)</sup>	Payments During Last Fiscal Year (\$)
Mr. Watjen	Qualified Excess SERP	13.50 13.50 13.50	\$ 213,000 1,946,000 2,404,000	
Mr. Greving	Qualified Excess	10.83 10.83	189,000 342,000	
Mr. McCarthy	Qualified Excess	29.00 29.00	512,000 1,088,000	
Mr. Best <sup>(2)</sup>	Qualified Excess	13.50 13.50	649,000 637,000	
Mr. Horn	Qualified Excess	4.00 4.00	63,000 130,000	

<sup>(1)</sup> The Present Value of Accumulated Benefits is based upon a measurement date of December 31, 2007. Accordingly, all calculations utilize Credited Service and Pensionable Earnings as of the same date. The results shown are estimates only and actual benefits will be based upon data, pay, service, form of benefit elected and age at the time of retirement. The primary assumptions used in the calculations are based on the measurement date SFAS No. 87 assumptions. Specifically, the accumulated benefit value calculations utilize a rate of 6.1% to discount expected future plan benefit payments to the measurement date, an annual increase in Social Security Wage Base of 3.5% to index the Qualified and Excess Plan benefits from the measurement date to commencement date and a post-commencement life expectancy assumption based upon the 2007 Optional Combined Current Liability Mortality Table. Other assumptions used in the calculations are based on our understanding of the disclosure regulations. In particular, participants are assumed to commence benefits at their unreduced retirement age in each of the plans. That is age 65 in the Qualified and Excess plans and, under the SERP, age 60 for Mr. Watjen. Also, no turnover (e.g., death, disability, termination, retirement) is assumed prior to retirement age.

# **Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation**

## Does Unum have any non-qualified programs that allow named executives to defer compensation?

We do not have an active non-qualified program that allows for deferrals of compensation. However, Mr. McCarthy does have a balance under an inactive plan, and his amounts are shown in the table below.

## **Nonqualified Deferred Compensation**

Name	Executive Contributions In Last FY (\$)	Registrant Contributions In Last FY (\$)	Aggregate Earnings In Last FY (\$)	Aggregate Withdrawals/ Distributions (\$)	Balar	gregate ice At Las YE (\$)
(a)	<i>(b)</i>	(c)	(d)	(e)		<i>(f)</i>
Mr. Watjen						
Mr. Greving						
Mr. McCarthy (1)			\$ 4,617		\$	74,781
Mr. Best						
Mr. Horn						

<sup>(2)</sup> Amounts include the Colonial Pension plan deferred vested monthly benefit of \$4,895.94. Pension benefit is based on Post-Colonial Benefit Service and all (Colonial + Unum) Vesting Service.

(1) Mr. McCarthy has a balance under an inactive Unum deferred compensation program that earned interest at a rate of 6.58%. The interest rate for this plan is set once each year at the rate which is equivalent to the interest rate Unum receives on the Unum America Consolidated Portfolio (consisting of bonds, mortgage loans and preferred stocks). The amount of above-market interest that exceeds 120% of the rate prescribed under section 1274(d) of the Internal Revenue Code has been included in column (h) of the Summary Compensation Table on page 50.

59

## OTHER POTENTIAL POST- EMPLOYMENT PAYMENTS

The amounts in the tables that follow outline estimated payments under various termination scenarios. The tables exclude amounts received as an annuity under our retirement plans and the intrinsic value of vested options. The pension information is shown in the previous Pension Benefits table.

## **Termination As a Result of Death**

What benefits would named executives beneficiaries receive in the event of termination as a result of death?

The named executives beneficiaries would receive the following benefits:

# Termination as a Result of Death (1)

	Prorated Annual	Early Vesting	Group Life Insurance	Corporate Owned Life Insurance	
Name	Incentive <sup>(2)</sup>	of Equity <sup>(3)</sup>	Benefit <sup>(4)</sup>	Proceeds(5)	Total
Mr. Watjen	\$ 1,071,633	\$ 6,041,919	\$ 50,000	\$ 200,000	\$ 7,363,552
Mr. Greving	380,103	862,246	50,000	200,000	1,492,349
Mr. McCarthy	502,660	986,500	50,000	200,000	1,739,160
Mr. Best	407,970	1,008,958	50,000	200,000	1,666,928
Mr. Horn	366,730	927,453	50,000	n/a	1,344,183

- (1) All amounts in the table assume that the death occurred on December 31, 2007.
- (2) Per the terms of the employment agreement for Mr. Watjen, upon death, his beneficiaries would receive a prorated annual incentive based on the date of death. The amount is calculated based on the average of the bonuses paid for the three completed calendar years prior to death. For the other named executives, the Management Incentive Compensation Plan of 2004 provides a prorated annual incentive payment in the event of death. Under this Plan, the payment is adjusted based on corporate performance. Therefore, the amounts for Messrs. Greving, McCarthy and Best represent a payment based on the corporate achievement for 2007.
- (3) Per the terms of the Amended and Restated Stock Plan of 1999 under which the equity awards are granted, all stock options would remain exercisable for a period of three years after the date of death and all unvested restricted stock with the exception of the Equity Performance Grant would accelerate vesting as of the date of death.

Vesting of Equity Performance Grant: Upon termination as a result of death:

No performance restricted stock units will be settled until performance is certified by the Board

If Threshold performance hurdles are not achieved, no PRSUs are earned

If Threshold performance hurdles are achieved, earned PRSUs will be prorated based on the number of months of employment during the relevant performance period and the stock price upon the date of death

- (4) We provide all full-time employees, including our named executives, with \$50,000 of life insurance coverage at no cost to the employee.
- (5) In April 2000, we purchased Corporate Owned Life Insurance on all officers of the Company who gave their approval. In the event of death while still employed, the Company provides a death benefit to the named executive s beneficiary in the amount of \$200,000. Mr. Horn was not our employee at the time so there is no amount shown for him.

60

## **Termination As a Result of Disability**

What benefits would the named executives receive in the event of termination as a result of disability?

The named executives would receive the benefits shown in the below table.

## Termination as a Result of Disability (1)

	Prorated Annual		D. 1	D	m
Name	Incentive <sup>(2)</sup>	(3)	Disab	ility Benefits <sup>(4)</sup>	Total
Mr. Watjen	\$ 1,071,633	\$ 6,041,919	\$	249,167	\$ 7,362,719
Mr. Greving	380,103	862,246		197,366	1,439,715
Mr. McCarthy	502,660	986,500		260,780	1,749,940
Mr. Best	407,970	1,008,958		164,275	1,581,203
Mr. Horn	366,730	927,453		213,338	1,507,521

- (1) All amounts in the table assume that the termination as a result of disability occurred on December 31, 2007.
- (2) Per the terms of the Employment Agreement for Mr. Watjen, upon termination as a result of disability, he would receive a prorated annual incentive based on the date of termination. The amount is calculated based on the average of the bonuses paid for the three completed calendar years prior to termination. For the other named executives, the Management Incentive Compensation Plan of 2004 provides a prorated annual incentive payment in the event of termination as a result of disability. Under this Plan, the payment is adjusted based on corporate performance. Therefore, the amounts for Messrs. Greving, McCarthy and Best represent a payment based on the corporate achievement for 2007.
- (3) Per the terms of the Amended and Restated Stock Plan of 1999 under which the equity awards are granted, all stock options would remain exercisable for a period of three years after the date of disability and all unvested restricted stock with the exception of the Equity Performance Grant would accelerate vesting as of the date of disability.

Vesting of Equity Performance Grant: Upon termination as a result of disability:

No performance restricted stock units will be settled until performance is certified by the Board

If Threshold performance hurdles are not achieved, no PRSUs are earned

If Threshold performance hurdles are achieved, earned PRSUs will be prorated based on the number of months of employment during the relevant performance period and the stock price upon the date of termination as a result of disability

(4) Amounts shown represent the estimated lump-sum present value of all future payments which the named executive would be entitled to receive under our Long-term Disability program. Each named executive would be entitled to receive such benefits until he reaches age 65.

## **Termination for Cause or Resignation Without Good Reason**

## What benefits would named executives receive in the event of termination for cause or resignation without good reason?

In the event of termination for cause or resignation without good reason at any time, named executives would not receive severance or other benefits from us other than benefits that had been accrued under the retirement plan. Termination for cause includes termination due to (1) the continued failure of the executive to substantially perform his or her duties (unless due to illness) after the Board delivers a written demand specifically identifying the manner in which the executive is failing to substantially perform his or her duties; (2) willful illegal or gross misconduct that is harmful to the Company; or (3) conviction of a felony or a guilty or no contest plea by the executive relating to a felony.

An executive may terminate his or her employment for good reason if (1) assigned to duties inconsistent with his or her position, authority, duties or responsibilities, or any other action by us which diminishes any of these (except isolated, insubstantial or inadvertent action not in bad

faith which is promptly remedied); (2) we fail comply with the terms of employment in the executive s employment agreement; (3) we terminate the executive s employment except as expressly permitted in the employment agreement; (4) we fail to require a

61

successor to assume the terms of the employment agreement; (5) we require the executive to relocate to an office other than the Company s headquarters; or (6) we require the executive to relocate anywhere during a change-in-control period.

## Termination Without Cause or Resignation With Good Reason (absent a change in control)

What benefits would named executives receive in the event of termination without cause or resignation with good reason?

In the event of termination without cause or resignation with good reason (absent a change in control), Mr. Watjen would be eligible for the estimated payments outlined in the table below per the terms of his employment agreement.

For the other named executives, in the event of (1) involuntary termination due to poor performance, other than for misconduct or cause (as defined above), (2) job elimination or (3) a decision to fill the position with a different resource consistent with corporate direction, they would be eligible for severance under the Severance Pay Plan for Executive Vice Presidents. This plan provides a severance benefit of 18 months of base salary. The payment is made as a lump sum after a seven-day revocation period following the signing of an agreement and general release. Participants are not entitled to continued coverage under the medical and dental benefit insurance plans (other than as may be required by the federal COBRA health care continuation requirements). Participants who are entitled to receive a severance payment under the plan are also provided with outplacement benefits within reasonable limitations (currently the lesser of 20% of base salary or \$50,000).

## Termination Without Cause or Resignation with Good Reason (absent a CIC)(1)

Name (a)	Severance (b)	Prorated Annual Incentive (c)	Early Vesting of Equity (d)	Benefit Contin- uation (e)	Outplace- ment Services (f)	Pension Enhance- ment (g)	Total (h)
Mr. Watjen (2)	\$ 6,364,900	\$ 1,071,633	\$ 4,688,779	\$ 11,454	\$ 50,000	\$ 3,148,000	\$ 15,334,766
Mr. Greving (3)	585,000	0	0	0	50,000	0	635,000
Mr. McCarthy (3)	787,500	0	0	0	50,000	0	837,500
Mr. Best (3)	720,000	0	0	0	50,000	0	770,000
Mr. Horn <sup>(3)</sup>	660,000	0	0	0	50,000	0	710,000

<sup>(1)</sup> All amounts in the table assume a termination date of December 31, 2007. The in-the-money value of vested, unexercised stock options held by the named executive are not included in the table because the value is not impacted by a termination.

(2) For Mr. Watjen, in the event of Termination without Cause or Resignation with Good Reason and the date of termination occurs other than within two years following a Change in Control or within 12 months of a Potential Change in Control (i.e., within 12 months of the Company entering into an agreement for a transaction that would constitute a Change in Control if consummated), he would be entitled to:

Severance Three times the sum of his annual base salary and the average annual incentive paid to him in the three years prior to the date of termination. See column (b). Additional details related to his employment agreement are provided below.

Prorated Annual Incentive A prorated annual incentive through the termination date based on a three-year average of his annual incentive awards. See column (c).

Early Vesting of Restricted Stock stock options, restricted stock and other equity based awards granted after July 1, 1999 with the exception of the Equity Performance Grant will vest as of the date of termination to the extent such awards would have vested if he had remained continuously employed by the Company through the expiration of the Agreement term. Thus, the amount in the table represents the value of all awards which would have vested through December 16, 2009 at a market price of \$23.79 (December 31, 2007 close price). See column (d).

Vesting of the Equity Performance Grant Upon a voluntary resignation or Company initiated termination other than job elimination, unvested performance restricted stock units are forfeited.

62

## **Table of Contents**

Benefit Continuation Provision of health and welfare benefits at the same level, terms and conditions that existed prior to termination for a period of thirty-six months. The amounts shown reflect the estimated present value cost of programs currently in place for the average Company employee, and are not specific to Mr. Watjen. See column (e).

Outplacement Benefits In the event that an named executive terminates and is eligible for severance, he or she is also eligible for outplacement benefits, which are paid directly to the provider. The Company policy for all named executives is the lesser of 20% of base salary or \$50,000. See column (f).

Pension Enhancement A lump sum payment representing the increase in present value of his retirement benefits as if he had accumulated three additional years of age and service. The amount in the table reflects this lump-sum payment which would be due under this termination scenario. See column (g).

(3) In the event of Termination without Cause or Resignation with Good Reason (other than within the context of a Change in Control or Potential Change in Control) which involves a job elimination, other named executives are eligible for the following:

Severance Each named executive would receive 18 months based salary.

Prorated Annual Incentive Only in the event of job elimination would the named executive receive a prorated annual incentive through the date of termination, which is adjusted for corporate performance. In the event of job elimination as of 12/31/2007, the prorated annual incentive amounts would be as follows: Mr. Greving \$380,103; Mr. McCarthy \$502,660; Mr. Best \$407,970; Mr. Horn \$366,730.

Early Vesting of Equity Only in the event of job elimination would the named executive receive early vesting of outstanding equity and it would be prorated. In the event of job elimination as of 12/31/2007, the prorated early vesting of equity awards would be as follows: Mr. Greving \$527,829; Mr. McCarthy \$588,184; Mr. Best \$605,337; Mr. Horn \$558,113.

Outplacement Benefits In the event that a named executive terminates and is eligible for severance under the Severance Pay Plan for Executive Vice Presidents, he or she is also eligible for outplacement benefits, which are paid directly to the provider. The Company policy for all named executives is the lesser of 20% of base salary or \$50,000. See column (f).

## **Termination Related to a Change in Control**

## What constitutes a change in control?

A change in control occurs if (1) during any period of two consecutive years the individuals serving as directors at the beginning of the period (the incumbent directors) cease for any reason to make up a majority of the Board (unless a new director is approved by the vote of at least 2/3 of the incumbent directors, in which case that director will also be an incumbent director, except that no director initially elected or nominated as a director of the Company as a result of an actual or threatened election contest will be an incumbent director); (2) any person beneficially owns more than 20% of the shares of the Company s common stock (unless the person is a subsidiary of the Company, employee benefit plan maintained by the Company or a subsidiary, an underwriter temporarily holding the Company s shares pursuant to an offering of shares, or the person s ownership is the result of a reorganization or sale that is a non qualifying transaction; (3) the consummation of a merger, consolidation, statutory share exchange or similar corporate transaction involving us or any of our subsidiaries that requires approval of our stockholders, or sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of our assets to an entity that is not an affiliate of the Company, or other specified transactions where essentially the ultimate control as it existed immediately prior to the transaction has not changed, and at least a majority of the directors of the surviving parent corporation were incumbent directors of the Company prior to the transaction; and (4) the stockholders of the Company approve a plan of complete liquidation or dissolution of the Company.

## Are any executives covered under change-in-control agreements?

Unum offers change-in-control severance agreements to certain senior officers, including Mr. Best, Mr. Greving, Mr. McCarthy and Mr. Horn, as determined by the Human Capital Committee. Mr. Watjen s employment agreement outlines his change-in-control severance agreements and is discussed in more detail beginning on page 66.

## What benefits are provided under these agreements?

These agreements provide a number of benefits in the event we terminate a senior officer s employment without cause or the officer resigns for good reason (as described above) within a two-year period following a change in

63

control. The agreements also provide benefits prior to a change in control (1) for reasons that would have constituted a Good Reason or Without Cause termination if they had occurred following a change in control, (2) at the request of a third party who had indicated an intention or taken steps to effect a change in control and a change in control involving the third party does occur. The severance benefits include:

Payment of two times base salary and annual incentive (based on higher of pre-change-in-control salary and actual annual incentive or current salary and annual incentive target);

Pro rata annual incentive for the year of termination, based on assumed performance at the target level;

Two years additional age and service credit towards pension benefit accrual, including both qualified and supplemental plans;

Continued medical and dental coverage for two years (secondary to coverage obtained from subsequent employer);

Vesting of all equity-based awards, which, in the case of options, shall remain exercisable for ninety days from the date of termination;

Vesting of accrued pension benefits, including both qualified and supplemental retirement plans; and

Payment of all deferred compensation and outplacement services in accordance with our policies.

If any payments under the agreement would be subject to any excise tax under Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code, we will provide an additional payment so that these individuals retain a net amount equal to the payments each would have retained if the excise tax had not been applied, unless a reduction in the payments by no more than 10% would result in no excise tax being owed.

## **Termination Related to a Change-in-Control** (1)

Name (a)	Severance (b)	Prorated Annual Incentive	Early Vesting of Equity	Benefit Contin- uation	Outplace- ment Services (f)	Pension Enhance- ment	Estimated Tax Gross-Up	Reduction in CIC Benefits	Total
Mr. Watjen (2)	\$ 6,364,900	(c) \$ 1,071,633	(d) \$ 9,610,419	(e) \$ 11,454	\$ 50,000	(g) \$ 3,148,000	(h) \$ 5,510,309	(i)	\$ 25,766,715
Mr. Greving (3)	1,306,062	253,500	1,575,945	7,809	50,000	198,000	833,674		4,224,990
Mr. McCarthy (3)	1,890,000	420,000	2,413,900	7,809	50,000	603,000	1,775,412		7,160,121
Mr. Best (3)	1,671,596	336,000	2,198,458	7,809	50,000	274,000	1,197,120		5,734,983
Mr. Horn (3)	1.599.516	286,000	2.116.953	7.809	50.000	281,000	1.398.079		5.739.357

- (1) All amounts in the table assume a termination date of December 31, 2007. Our Change-in-Control arrangements require both a Change-in-Control and a termination in order for the benefits to be payable. The in-the-money value of vested, unexercised stock options held by the named executive are not included in the tables because their value is not impacted by a termination.
- (2) For Mr. Watjen, Termination related to a Change in Control in the event of termination without Cause or Resignation with Good Reason within two years following a Change in Control or within 12 months of a Potential Change in Control (i.e., within 12 months of the Company entering into an agreement for a transaction that would constitute a Change in Control if consummated). In either event, he would be entitled to:

Severance Three times the sum of his annual base salary and the average annual incentive paid to him in the three years prior to the date of termination. See column (b). Additional details related to his employment agreement are provided below.

Prorated Annual Incentive A prorated annual incentive based on a three-year average of his annual incentive awards. See column (c).

Early Vesting of Restricted Stock Accelerated vesting of Mr. Watjen s stock options, restricted stock and other equity based awards granted after July 1, 1999. Thus, the amount in the table represents the value of all outstanding unvested restricted stock awards for Mr. Watjen at a market price of \$23.79 (December 31, 2007, close price). See column (d).

Benefit Continuation Provision of health and welfare benefits at the same level, terms and conditions that existed prior to termination for a period of thirty-six months. The amounts shown reflect the estimated present value cost of programs currently in place for the average Company employee, and are not specific to Mr. Watjen. See column (e).

64

Outplacement Benefits In the event that a named executive terminates and is eligible for severance, he or she is also eligible for outplacement benefits, which are paid directly to the provider. The Company policy for all named executives is the lesser of 20% of base salary or \$50,000. See column (f). Pension Enhancement A lump sum payment representing the increase in present value of his retirement benefits as if he had accumulated three additional years of age and service. The amount in the table reflects this lump-sum payment which would be due under this termination scenario. See column (g).

Estimated Tax Gross Up If any payments pursuant to Mr. Watjen s employment agreement or otherwise would be subject to any excise tax under Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code, the Company will provide an additional payment such that he retain a net amount equal to the payments he would have retained if such excise tax had not applied. If the value of the benefits (calculated in accordance with the IRS rules) exceeds the IRS limit by 10% or less, then the benefits would be reduced to avoid the excise tax. Mr. Watjen s payments would exceed the IRS limit by more than 10%, and as a result, an additional payment is made. See column (h).

Reduction in CIC benefits As indicated above, in the event the payment is within 10% of the IRS limit which results in no excise tax, the payment is reduced. See column (i).

(3) In the event of a termination without Cause or Resignation for Good Reason within two years following a Change in Control or Potential Change in Control (as defined below under Change in Control Severance Agreements), Messrs. Greving, McCarthy and Best would be entitled to:

Severance A severance payment in the amount of two times base salary and annual incentive (based on higher of pre-change-in-control salary and actual annual incentive or current salary and annual incentive target). See column (b).

Prorated Annual Incentive A prorated annual incentive (higher of pre-change-in-control actual annual incentive or current annual incentive target) in the event of termination within a 24 month period following a Change in Control. See column (c).

Early Vesting of Restricted Stock Immediate vesting of all unvested equity grants with the exception of the Equity Performance Grant. See column (d).

Vesting of Equity Performance Grant Upon CIC,

Time and threshold performance hurdles deemed achieved

# of PRSUs earned are based on stock appreciation curve, and paid at consummation of CIC

Remaining unearned PRSUs:

50% convert to restricted stock units and would be settled at the earlier of involuntary termination without cause, termination for good reason or 12/31/2011.

Remaining 50% are forfeited

Benefit Continuation Provision of health and welfare benefits at the same level, terms and conditions that existed prior to termination for a period of twenty-four months following the date of termination. The amounts shown reflect the estimated present value cost of programs currently in place for the average Company employee, and are not specific to each named executive. See column (e).

Outplacement Benefits In the event that a named executive terminates and is eligible for severance, he or she is also eligible for outplacement benefits, which are paid directly to the provider. The Company policy for all named executives is the lesser of 20% of base salary or \$50,000. See column (f). Pension Enhancement A lump sum payment representing the increase in present value of the named executive s retirement benefits as if he had accumulated two additional years of age and service. The amounts in the table reflect these lump-sum payments which would be due under this termination scenario. See column (g).

Estimated Tax Gross Up If any payments pursuant to the agreement or otherwise would be subject to any excise tax under Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code, an additional payment such that the named executive retains a net amount equal to the payments each would have retained if such excise tax had not applied. If the value of the benefits (calculated in accordance with the IRS rules) exceeds the IRS limit by 10% or less, then the benefits would be reduced to avoid the excise tax. Each of the named executive s payments would exceed the IRS limit by more than 10%, and as a result, an additional payment is made. See column (h).

Reduction in CIC benefits As indicated above, in the event the payment is within 10% of the IRS limit which results in no excise tax, the payment is reduced. None of the executive s payments are within the 10% limit and therefore, are not reduced. See column (i).

65

## EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENTS

#### What are employment agreements?

Employment agreements are negotiated contracts under which the terms of an executive s employment are outlined. The terms are intended to represent the competitive market while at the same time serve to attract and retain the contracted executive.

## Which named executives are covered under an employment agreement?

Mr. Watjen is the only named executive covered under an employment agreement.

## What are the terms of Mr. Watjen s employment agreement?

Mr. Watjen s employment agreement, which was originally effective January 1, 2002, and amended on December 16, 2005, currently extends through December 16, 2009, and is subject to automatic one-year extensions unless either party elects not to renew. Under the terms of his agreement, Mr. Watjen is paid a salary of \$1,050,000 and is eligible for a target annual incentive of not less than 120% of his base salary, excluding any special or supplemental bonuses that may be awarded. He is also eligible to participate in all incentive, saving, retirement, health, welfare and fringe benefit plans and programs generally available to our other senior executive officers.

#### Is Mr. Watjen entitled to receive retirement benefits?

Yes, Mr. Watjen s employment agreement provides for retirement benefits. He is entitled to a minimum annual retirement benefit equal to 2.5% of his final average earnings multiplied by his years of service (as defined in his employment agreement) up to 20 years. If he retires after age 55, but prior to age 60, his benefit will be reduced by 5% for each year under 60. The minimum annual retirement benefit in the employment agreement will be reduced by any benefits payable to him under our Qualified Pension Plan and Excess Plan. In addition, Mr. Watjen is entitled to post-retirement welfare benefit coverage under the terms of our applicable plans to the extent that it provides such coverage. He will receive full credit for all his years of service with us for all purposes except for the post-retirement medical plan. Service credit for this plan will be awarded based on the terms of the plan.

## Does Mr. Watjen s agreement include a severance package?

In the event Mr. Watjen s employment is terminated without cause or he resigns for good reason (as described above), he will receive the following severance benefits:

An amount equal to three times the sum of his annual base salary and the average annual incentive paid to him in the three years prior to the date of termination;

Accrued obligations for salary and a pro-rata annual incentive for the portion of the year preceding termination;

A lump sum payment representing the increase in present value of his retirement benefit as if he had accumulated three additional years of age and service;

Continuation of health and welfare benefits for a period of up to three years; and

Vesting of all equity awards granted after July 1, 1999, to the extent these awards would have vested if he had remained employed through the expiration of the term of his agreement. Additionally, any options will remain exercisable through the later of (i) the post-termination expiration date specified in the original option agreement, (ii) December 31 of the year in which his termination of employment occurs, or (iii) the 15<sup>th</sup> day of the third month following his date of termination, but not exceeding the expiration of their initial term.

66

If we terminate Mr. Watjen s employment without cause or he resigns for good reason within the 12-month period following a potential change in control, as described above, or within the two-year period following an actual change in control, also described above, all of his equity awards granted after July 1, 1999, would fully vest other than the Equity Performance Grant.

If we terminate Mr. Watjen s employment for cause or he resigns without good reason, he would not receive severance or other benefits from us other than benefits accrued under the paid-time off program and the retirement plans.

If any payments under this agreement would be subject to any excise tax under Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code, we will provide an additional payment so that Mr. Watjen would retain a net amount equal to the payments he would have retained if the excise tax had not applied, unless a reduction in the payments by no more than 10% would result in no excise tax being owed.

## Is Mr. Watjen under a non-compete agreement if he leaves Unum?

Yes. His employment agreement prohibits Mr. Watjen from using or divulging confidential information and from competing with us or soliciting our employees for a period of 18 months after his employment terminates. These non-competition and non-solicitation covenants would expire if a change in control occurs.

67

## COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS

Who is responsible for determining the compensation of directors?

The Human Capital Committee is responsible for determining the compensation of directors. In doing so, the Human Capital Committee sought advice from Towers Perrin. The retainer and fee arrangements for non-employee directors are contained in the Non-Employee Director Compensation Plan of 2004 ( Director Plan ).

## How are directors compensated?

Non-employee directors are paid an annual retainer of \$80,000. In addition to the annual retainer, each Director receives an annual restricted stock grant of \$50,000. The Chairman of the Board received a retainer of \$40,000 per quarter in 2007 in addition to the annual retainer. The chairs of the standing Committees (other than the Audit Committee) receive an additional retainer of \$7,500 annually. In March 2007, the Board approved an annual retainer of \$15,000 for the Audit Committee chair given the increased demands of that position. Retainers are prorated for a director who joins the Board or becomes the chair of a Committee after the Annual Meeting. In addition to the annual retainer, non-employee directors are paid \$2,000 for each meeting they attend in person and \$500 for each conference call meeting of the Board and of the Committees on which they participate. Non-employee directors can elect to receive all or a portion of their cash compensation in deferred share rights (the right to receive one share of common stock on the payment date) under the terms of the Company s Director Plan.

We also pay directors expenses for attending meetings of the Board and Committees or other meetings relating to Company business.

The table below provides details of the compensation for each person who served as a non-employee director during 2007.

68

## **Director Compensation**

	Fees Earned or Paid in Cash <sup>(1)</sup>	Stock Awards <sup>(2)</sup>	Option Awards <sup>(3)</sup>	Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compen- sation	Change in Pension Value and Non-qualified Deferred Compen- sation Earnings <sup>(4)</sup>	All Other Compen- sation <sup>(5)</sup>	
Name	(\$)	(\$)	(\$)	(\$)	(\$)	(\$)	Total (\$)
(a)	(b)	(c)	(d)	(e)	(f)	(g)	(h)
Active Directors	D 154 167	Φ 20 021			Φ 064		Φ 107 0 <b>7</b> 0
E. Michael Caulfield	\$ 154,167	\$ 30,921			\$ 964		\$ 186,052
Jon S. Fossel	270,000	30,921			2,248		303,169
Pamela H. Godwin	111,500	30,921			4,849	6,600	153,870
Ronald E. Goldsberry	124,000	30,921			9,806	8,500	173,227
Thomas Kinser	115,500	30,921			3,486		149,907
Gloria C. Larson	110,500	30,921			4,879		146,300
A. S. (Pat) MacMillan, Jr.	117,000	30,921			1,436		149,357
Edward J. Muhl	115,000	30,921			,		145,921
Michael J. Passarella	148,000	30,921			445		179,366
William J. Ryan	121,500	30,921			3,689		156,110
Directors Who Retired from the Board		30,721			3,007		150,110
(6)					605		2.605
Hugh O. Maclellan, Jr. (6)	3,000				685		3,685

(1) These amounts include annual and Committee retainers which were paid in cash or deferred. Each outside director may elect to defer a portion of their compensation. The amount of the annual compensation that was deferred into deferred share rights was: Mr. Caulfield \$146,875, Mr. Fossel \$40,000, Ms. Godwin \$111,500, Dr. Goldsberry \$124,000, Mr. Kinser \$97,750, Ms. Larson \$110,500, Mr. MacMillan \$21,875, Mr. Passarella \$33,000, and Mr. Ryan \$55,250. As of December 31, 2007, the aggregate deferred shares rights of our non-employee directors is as follows:

Mr. Caulfield	5,285	Mr. Kinser	13,405	Mr. Muhl	0
Mr. Fossel	7,768	Ms. Larson	18,166	Mr. Passarella	1,903
Ms. Godwin	18,101	Mr. Maclellan	0	Mr. Ryan	13,319
Dr. Goldsberry	17,629	Mr. MacMillan	5,226		

For those directors who elect deferred share rights for meeting fees, the amounts shown above do not include shares earned during 4<sup>th</sup> quarter 2007 since these are paid in arrears and were converted on the first business day of 2008.

- (2) As part of their annual retainer, the Board of Directors were paid an additional \$50,000 of which was converted into restricted stock on May 18, 2007. They were each granted 1,840 shares under the Unum Group Stock Incentive Plan of 2007. The amounts shown are the FAS123R expense taken during 2007 for these shares. Due to Mr. Maclellan s retirement, he did not receive restricted stock.
- (3) Two of our current directors and one retired director have outstanding stock options. The aggregate number of option awards outstanding at fiscal year end for each are as follows:

Dr. Goldsberry 9,533
Mr. Maclellan (retired) 38,179

Mr. MacMillan 8,331

- (4) The amounts shown here represent dividend reinvestment earnings on the deferred share rights in each Director s account.
- (5) Amounts represent matching gifts made on behalf of the named director, to qualified non-profit organizations and educational institutions. The Matching Gifts Program is available to employees and non-employee directors, and will match eligible gifts to qualified charities from a minimum of \$50 to an aggregate maximum gift of \$7,500 per non-employee director, per calendar year. Unum inadvertently paid an additional \$1,000 in gifts on behalf of Dr. Goldsberry and decided not to request a return of the gift from the charity.
- (6) Mr. Maclellan retired from the Board of Directors effective May 18, 2007.

69

## Is Mr. Watjen paid for his services as a director?

No. Employees of Unum are not compensated for their services as directors of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

## How often is director compensation reviewed?

Compensation for outside directors is reviewed on an annual basis. Based on a competitive assessment of non-employee director compensation conducted by Towers Perrin, the Board increased director compensation in March 2007 to be more consistent with the competitive market and to recognize the growing demands placed on the Board by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and other regulatory requirements. The increase was in the form of an annual restricted stock grant of \$50,000 per outside director to better align directors interests with that of stockholders. This grant became effective with the annual meeting in May 2007 and is made through the Stock Incentive Plan of 2007 which was approved by stockholders at that meeting. The change moves Unum directors to market median compensation levels and shifts the cash/stock mix of compensation closer to market practice.

## What benchmarking or research is done with regard to director pay?

Director compensation is compared to both the proxy peer group as described in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis and a general industry peer group consisting of 65 companies in Towers Perrin soutside director database with market caps ranging from \$5 to \$12 billion. As with executive pay, this peer group data is used for determining market practices with respect to director compensation. Unum targets the 50th percentile of this peer group in order to ensure that we can attract and retain directors with the appropriate leadership experience and skills. In addition to market data, workload is considered when setting director compensation.

## Are there stock ownership guidelines for directors?

Yes. Prior to 2008, each director had a stock ownership goal of 20,000 shares of Unum common stock. That goal had to be achieved within five years of the adoption of the goal in December 2003, or, for new directors, within five years of initial election to the Board. As part of the annual review of director compensation practices in 2007, the decision was made to change the ownership goal to a multiple of the annual retainer. Effective January 2008, we adopted an ownership requirement of 3 times a director s annual cash retainer of \$80,000. The directors ownership requirement of having shares with a value of \$240,000 is at a competitive level. Directors continue to have five years from their date of election to reach the requirement. Unum s management provides the Human Capital Committee with an ownership summary for each director on an annual basis. The Human Capital Committee will make a subjective assessment of the appropriate action to take for any director who is not reaching the ownership goal in a timely manner. As of December 31, 2007, six of the 10 non-employee directors have met the ownership goal.

Under the *Corporate Governance Guidelines*, each director is expected to retain stock received as a result of director compensation for at least three years from the time the stock vests and should retain at least the number of shares in the ownership goal until retirement from the Board.

#### Do directors receive any other benefits?

Directors are eligible to participate in our employee matching gifts program, under which individual charitable contributions are matched by us. This program is an important way us to directly support non-profit organizations and educational institutions. Under this program, eligible gifts from a minimum of \$50 to an aggregate maximum gift of \$7,500 are matched on a \$1 for \$1 basis per year. Gifts to accredited colleges, universities, graduate schools, and secondary and elementary schools within the United States are matched on a \$2 for \$1 basis.

70

Are directors eligible for retirement pay?

No. Directors of the former Provident Companies participating in the director retirement program were required in 1998 to c